	ΕЩ	E
	000	0000000000000
	000	0000000000000
	000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000
	000	00000000000000
	000	

The Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization

nnual

Report

N0

oping

Economies,

JETR

Õ

INSTITUTE OF DEVELOPING **ECONOMIES**

Annual Report 2011

Japan External Trade Organization

The Institute of Developing Economies is a government-related institution, founded in 1958 to conduct basic and comprehensive studies on economic, political, and social issues of developing countries and regions. In the years since then, the Institute has been conducting research on Asia, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America, Oceania, and Eastern Europe, mainly through field surveys and empirical studies. The Institute has also gathered materials and information on these countries and regions, made them available to the public both domestically and outside Japan, and disseminated the findings of its surveys and researches. Since 1990, the Institute has been taking an active part in the education of trainees in the areas of economic and social development of developing countries and regions.

The Institute merged with the Japan External Trade Organization (JETRO) in July 1998. JETRO was reorganized into an incorporated administrative agency in October 2003. The Institute carries on all its activities within this newly organized body, working to strengthen its research activities.



Institute of Developing Economies, JETRO

3-2-2 Wakaba, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi, Chiba 261-8545, Japan Tel: +81-43-299-9500 Fax: +81-43-299-9724 URL: http://www.ide.go.jp/

INSTITUTE OF DEVELOPING ECONOMIES, JETRO



<Address> 3-2-2, Wakaba, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi, Chiba 261-8545, Japan <Access> JR Keivo Line: 10 minutes walk from Kaihin Makuhari Station (Approximately 30 minutes from Tokyo to Kaihin Makuhari) JR Sobu Line : 20 minutes walk from Makuhari Station 12 minutes by bus from Makuhari Hongo Station (bound for the north exit of Kaihin Makuhari Station) Higashi Kanto Expressway: 5 minute drive from Wangan Narashino I.C.

Annual Report of the 2011 fiscal year Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization

Contents

I. FY 2010 Institute of Developing Economies Research Principles	
1 . Basic Principles	5
2 . Action Principles	5
3 . Important Activities	10
II. Review of Research Projects	
\langle Policy Proposal Research $ angle$	
1 . CJK (China, Japan, and Korea) Joint Research Project	11
2. Structural Adjustments in the Guangdong Economy and Issues in the Coordination of Japan-China Economics and Business	11
3 . Korea-China FTA and its Effect on Third Parties	12
4 . Investment Promotion Program for Africa	12
\langle Analytical Research Contributing to Policy Proposals $ angle$	
[1] Policy Issue Research	
1 . India's Contemporary International Relations: The Way to Major Power	13
2 . Economic Integration and Its Impact on Industrial Locations in CLMV	14
3 . Disabled People and Government Policies in Southern Asian Countries: From the Viewpoint of	
"Disability and Development"	14
[2] Regular Analytical Research Projects	
1 . Analysis of Current Affairs in Asia	15
2 . Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Table II	15
3 . Compilation and Application of Trade Indices V: A Feature of Long-Term Trade Indices	15
4 . Economic Modeling on Asia for Long-term Evaluation (EMALE)	16
[3] Spot Research Projects	
1 . Democracy and Development in Bihar: The Case of Bihar	16
2 . Power-succession in the Workers' Party of Korea	16
[4] Collaborative Research Projects	
1. Fukuoka Prefecture-IDE Joint Research "East Asia's Economic Integration and Fukuoka's Development"	17
2 . WTO-IDE Joint Research "Trade in Value-added in East Asia "	17
Basic/ Comprehensive Research	
1 . Laos: The New Development of "Chintanakan Mai"	18
2. The Prospects of the Military Regime in Myanmar	18
3 . Conflict and State Formation in Africa and the Middle East	19
4 . Local African Firms in the New Era of Globalization	19
5. "Food Crisis" and Maize Supply in Developing Countries	20
6. Comprehensive Study on Cuba: Politics, Economy, and Society under the New Government of Ra?l Castro	20
7 . How Chinese Industries Have Developed?: Trace the development path in 30 years	21
8 . Social Welfare and Governmentality in Emerging Countries	21
9. Political Participation by "the Excluded" in Latin America	22
10. Political, Economic, and Social Issues in Latin America	22
11. Firm, Market and Industry in Developing Economies: Exploring a New Industrial Development Theory	22
12. Dealing with Differences: The Politics of Tolerance in Developing Countries	22
13. Comparative Studies on Political Institutions in Southeast Asia	23
14. The Change in Social Contract in Egypt	23
15. The Rise of Multinational Corporations from Middle East	23

16. Social Transformation in Post-transition South Africa	24
17. Analysis of the Social Policy for the Victims of Agent Orange/Dioxin in Vietnam	24
18. Firm Organization, Non-regular Workers, and International Trade	25
19. Governance Problems in Public Financial Management in Developing Economies	25
20. The Changing Legislative Process in Thailand	
21. Global Recession and Economic Policies in Developing Countries	
22. Employment of Persons with Disabilities in Developing Countries	27
23. Productivity of the Corporations in China's Electrical and Electronics Industries: A Relation	
between Foreign and Local Corporations	27
24. Economic Policies and Economic Structures of Transition Economies in Southeast Asia:	
A Comparative Study of Myanmar and Vietnam	
25. The Korean Technology Network with Japan	
26. Pacific Island Nations under Globalization	29
27. Comparative Studies on Governance of Local Governments in Southeast Asia	29
28. Comprehensive Study on Taiwan III: Centripetal and Centrifugal Force in Taiwanese Society	
29. Elimination of Child Labor in a Multi-actor Approach	
30. International Comparison of Environmental Policy Development from Historical Viewpoint	
31. Economic Integration and Recycling in Asia	31
32. Trade and Environment: For Sustainable Development of Developing Countries	31
33. Reform of Local Governance for Environmental Conservation and Restoration in River and Lake Basins, China	
34. Skill Formation Systems, Skill Distribution, and Comparative Advantage: A Comparison of China and India	
35. Legal Analysis of Anti Human Trafficking Framework in the Great Mekong Sub-region	33
〈Funded Research〉	
1 . Impact Evaluation of Pasak River Irrigation System	
2 . Impact Evaluation on Small scale Irrigation Management Project (Indonesia)	33
3 . Food Industry Development and Trade of Processed Food Products in Asia	34
\langle Projects funded by Grants-in Aid for Scientific Research $ angle$	
1 . Technology Diffusion of the System of Rice Intensification and Its Economic Impacts on	
Household Welfare: The Case of Rural Indonesia	34
2 . Analysis of Poverty Reduction Policies in India Using Field Experiments	35
3 . The Basic Studies on Chinese Businessmen in Myanmar	35
4. The Assembler-Supplier Relationship and the Growth of Local Suppliers in the Vietnamese Motorcycle Industry	35
5. Local Firm's Learning through Foreign Direct Investment in sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of	
Garment Industry in Madagascar	
6. International Migration of Nurses and its Impact on the Health System of the Sending Countries	
- Case Studies of the Philippines, South Africa, Ghana and Zimbabwe	
7 . Qualitative Study about Social Mobility of Rural-Urban Migrants in Modern China	
8 . Microcredit Field Experiments: Loan Maturity and Group Lending	37
9. Job Search and Matching in Urban Labor Market: Networks in the Chinatown vs. Agglomeration	37
10. Location Choice of Multinational Enterprises and Impacts of FDI on Investors' Performance at	
Home: Evidence from Various Types of FDI	

II. International Conferences, Symposia, Workshops

1. 2010 APEC Study Centres Consortium (ASCC) Conference — Achieving the Bogor Goals and Beyond—	. 39
2 . Regional Integration in East Asia and APEC	. 39
3 . Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables	. 40
4 . Building New Clean Water Networks in China: Challenges and Opportunities for Protecting Lake Tai	. 40
5 . International Workshop on "Development of the 'Shanzhai' Gangster-mobile Phone Industry in China"	. 41

6. The Role of Governments in Economic Development in the 21st Century	41
7 . ERIA-IDE-UNIDO Joint Conference on "Green Economy, Sustainable Innovation, and	
Structural Change: Challenges and Opportunities"	42

IV. International Research Exchanges Promotion Activities

1 . Hosting of Visiting Research Fellows (VRF)	43
2 . Dispatching of IDE Staff Abroad	44
3 . Networking Activities	46

V. Publications

|--|

1.	. The Developing Economies	47
2.	Asian Economies	47
3.	. Ajiken World Trends	47
4.	. Latin America Report	47
5.	. Yearbook of Asian Affairs 2010	47
< Bo	oks〉	
1.	. IDE Research Series	47
2.	. IDE Selected Books	48
3.	. Statistical Data Series	48
< D o	wnloadable Papers and Reports	
1.	. Research Papers	48
2 .	. Joint Research Program Series	49
3.	. Spot Survey Series	50
4.	Discussion Paper Series	50
<co-< th=""><th>-publications with Commercial Publishers$angle$</th><th></th></co-<>	-publications with Commercial Publishers $ angle$	
	Commendation for Outstanding Publications	54
	IDE LIDrary . Library Collection	55
	Services to Users	
2.		57
VII.	IDE Advanced School (IDEAS)	58
IX.	Supporting Activities for ERIA	
	Objective of Activities	66
	Activities in FY 2010	
x.	Organization	
	Organization chart	68
	. Budget for Fiscal 2010	
	. Executive Board and Staff	
Apr	pendix	
· · P P		

I. FY 2010 Institute of Developing Economies Research Principles

I. Basic Principles

The basic principle of the Institute of Developing Economies, a national think tank on developing countries, is to conduct research that serves as the foundation for policymaking.*

In addition to carrying out some of the world's most advanced theoretical research, IDE also devotes attention to field research and world-class studies that make the most of researchers' integrated work, thus providing policymakers with arguments supported by both theory and evidence. Such research might include using an geographical-economic simulation model (GSM) to analyze the effects of infrastructure on industrial centers worldwide, the results of which would be submitted to Economic Ministers' Meetings or summit meetings through ERIA. Another example would be working with the World Trade Organization (WTO) to estimate value-added content of international trade flows in Asian international input-output tables and analyzing the findings.

In FY 2010, IDE will forge closer ties with JETRO Headquarters and government agencies and work on a variety of research, including high-priority policy projects such as ERIA support research, construction of an Asian research network, joint CJK FTA work, cooperative research with China, and an investment promotion program for Africa to respond to the wide-ranging needs of the political, business, and academic spheres.

To publicize its research results, IDE will create policy briefs and enhance its web-based coverage of research findings.

* Based on this excerpt from the "Independent Administrative Institution Consolidation and Rationalization Plan," adopted by Cabinet on December 24, 2007: "Research at IDE shall specialize in contributing to the expansion of trade and the promotion of economic cooperation in Asia through policy proposals, analysis for policy proposals, and basic/comprehensive research to support analysis, and the field of research shall be focused on 'sustainable development in developing countries.""

II. Action Principles

For (1) policy proposal research and (2) analytical research contributing to policy proposals, the Institute selects research themes based on basic governmental policies and regular discussions with the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry about policy needs. In (3) basic/comprehensive research, themes are chosen based on researcher initiative, but researchers are required to demonstrate policy significance when presenting research questions. Research themes include not only trade and investment, but also social topics and other issues that developing countries face, which help the Institute form a more complete picture of developing countries.

1. Policy Proposal Research

IDE will coordinate with JETRO Headquarters and other groups to work on the following themes, which are highly prioritized on the list of policy needs.

(1) Construction of an Asian Research Network (new)

Based on the need to incorporate Asian regional demand in Japan's efforts to achieve sustainable growth, IDE will expand its research activities in Asia, promote policy research and the construction of a research network, and provide the results to trade policymakers and agencies in Asia to improve the quality of policy research agencies in concerned regions. One example would involve using an geographical-economic simulation model (GSM) to analyze the effects of infrastructure.

(2) Joint CJK FTA Research

IDE will continue its joint CJK FTA research, in which it has teamed with the Development Research Center (DRC) of the State Council of China and the Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP) to investigate the streamlining of trade. The Institute will also support joint CJK research at the government level and work on FTA negotiations from the research side.

(3) Cooperative Research between Japan and China

Based on the memorandum signed in November, 2009 between JETRO and the government of the Guangdong province, IDE will work together with the Guangdong government to research "structural adjustments in the Guangdong economy and issues in the coordination of Japan-China economics and business."

(4) Investment Promotion Program for Africa

Working together with relevant organizations and Japanese companies looking to enter the African market, IDE will use experimental economics methods for a development experiment involving employees and surrounding communities. The study will be designed to investigate Africa's unique method of evaluating corporate social responsibility, which poses an obstacle for Japanese companies trying to expand investment and business. The research is intended to stabilize operations for expanding companies and reduce the social costs associated with investment. IDE will also collect information on new business trends in Africa, create a database, and construct an African business model.

2. Research Contributing to Policy Proposals

< 1. Regular Analytical Research Projects>

In addition to creating Asian international input-output tables, maintaining a trade statistics database, and continuing its trend analyses of politics and economics in Asian countries, IDE will begin model analysis of long-term economic growth in East Asia starting in FY 2010.

(1) Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables (II)

As part of its work on 2005 Asia international input-output tables and 2005 BRICs international input-output tables, IDE will look to establish an estimation method by exploring various technological problems that arise in the creation of international input-output tables. In addition, utilizing its knowledge of international input-output tables, the Institute will begin a 2-year joint research project with the World Trade Organization (WTO) to estimate value-added content of international trade flows and use related analyses to make policy proposals. In FY 2010, IDE-JETRO and the WTO will collaborate to create "Atlas: Production Networks, International Added Value and Regionalization in East Asia," a jointly-edited project.

(2) Analysis of Current Affairs in Asia

IDE's perspective on Asian countries is founded on long-term, tendency-based analyses of major themes for Asia as a whole and trends in various governments, economic systems, and foreign relations. The results of these studies, the "Yearbook of Asian Affairs 2011," is an exhaustive exploration of over 20 Asian nations, providing a look at trends and analysis, basic data by country, lists of key figures and cabinet members, critical documents, important daily reports, and major statistics. This is the only yearly report of its kind in the world, and is thus regarded highly by specialists and scholars as a "trend yearbook," a useful source of information. The yearbook will continue to serve as one of the pillars of the Institute's activities.

(3) Economic Modeling on Asia for Long-term Evaluation (EMALE)

Using a quantitative model developed by the Institute, IDE will look into the status of Asia's long-term economic development. More specifically, this involves creating a new model based on consumption, housing, social capital improvement, and other elements of the domestic market, as well as long-term factors such as population. IDE will also construct a model that, as a fundamental component of future quantitative analysis of long-term economic develop-

ment in Asia, can be applied to various types of analysis.

(4) Compilation and Application of Trade Indices: A Feature of Long-Term Trade indices

(V)

IDE will create trade indices, maintain long-term chronological statistics in trade data that serves as the basis for application, make corrections to ensure consistency and maximum integrity, and make a global comparison of the creation and evaluation of trade indices.

< 2. Policy Issue Research>

IDE will conduct policy issue research that is vital in making contributions to socially-significant policy proposals.

(1) Regional Integration in East Asia

In East Asia, economic integration has been progressing rapidly on both de facto and de jure bases, with countries concluding an increasing number of free trade agreements (FTAs) and economic partnership agreements (EPAs). This deepening integration has brought increased trade and investment liberalization, and is expected to further accelerate economic growth of the Asian region as a whole. This growth also has the potential to widen disparities among countries, regions within a country, and even local and foreign firms. Focusing on issues such as changes in industrial and trade structures within the region, development of supply chains and the formation of industrial clusters, IDE will analyze various issues accompanying regional integration from a variety of perspectives.

[Related Research Projects]

Economic Integration and Its Impacts on Industrial Location in CLMV

(2) Poverty Reduction and Development Strategy

In order to reduce poverty in developing countries from a long-term perspective, new institutional frameworks need to be closely linked with the policy objective of poverty reduction. On this basis, IDE will focus on analyses of the socially vulnerable disabled people who are often left out of the poverty reduction debate.

[Related Research Projects]

Current Situations of Disabled People and Governments Policies in Southern Asian Countries: From a Viewpoint of 'Disability and Development'

(3) Comprehensive Study of India

While India has attained stable economic growth, disparities among its regions have widened and poverty has become more acute in its least developed areas. These growing disparities and rapid changes brought about by globalization have led to political and social problems in the country. In FY 2010, IDE will focus its research on analyzing the prospects for India as it endeavors to become a major power in international politics.

[Related Research Projects]

India's Contemporary International Relation: The Way to Major Power

(4) Comprehensive Study of China

In previous years, IDE has analyzed the issues China faces, assessed mid- and long-term perspectives on economic development and political change, and evaluated their intrinsic risks. In FY 2010, IDE will consolidate past research results and hold seminars and other events to apply the results.

< 3. spot research projects and collaborative research projects>

In order to respond quickly to emergency problems and issues that have generated high public interest, IDE will conduct mobile studies and research and use a variety of methods to transmit the results quickly and clearly. IDE will

also respond to the requests of JETRO Headquarters, universities, external research agencies, and local governments and engage in collaborative research that utilizes the combined knowledge of parties involved. In FY 2010, IDE will launch local collaborative research with Fukuoka prefecture on "East Asian Economic Integration and Development of the Fukuoka Region," establishing mobile research questions as needed.

3. Basic/Comprehensive Research

In addition to (1) and (2) above, basic/comprehensive research will focus on four priority themes, "Macroeconomics: The Turbulent Global Economy and Economic Policies in Developing Countries," "Microeconomics: Companies and Industries in Search of a New Existence," "Politics/Society: System Transformation and Social Stability," and "Food/ Agriculture/Environment: Expanding Research on Sustainability" in support of analytical research contributing to policy proposal research and the proposals themselves. IDE will also continue to support individual research aimed at improving researcher writing abilities and encourage researchers to submit articles to prominent domestic and international journals.

(1) Macroeconomics: The Turbulent Global Economy and Economic Policies in Developing Countries

Sound macroeconomic management and the concept of harnessing the energy of the market economy in economic development have become mainstream elements of economic policy in developing countries. Ever since the "Lehman shock" of the fall of 2008, the tumult in global finance and economics has rattled the economic climate of developing countries, and such environmental shifts will inevitably have a significant impact on economic management in the future. At the present time, however, it is unclear whether these changes will induce a fundamental rethinking of conventional economic policy.

In this theme, IDE will investigate economic policy operations in developing countries amidst this turbulent economic environment, examine the reality and changes taking place, and highlight various issues and challenges.

[Related Research Projects]

Governance Problems in Public Financial Management in Developing Economies

Global Recession and Economic Policies in Developing Countries

Economic Policy and Economic Structure Development of Transition Economies in Southeast Asia: Comparative Study of Myanmar and Vietnam, etc.

(2) Microeconomics: Companies and Industries in Search of a New Existence

The intensification of global competition brought on by globalization has had a profound impact on corporations in developing countries, and many companies have been dealt serious blows by the global financial crisis that began in the fall of 2008. Despite these grave circumstances, some companies are trying to overcome the current situation by developing new demand, laying the foundations for a domestic and international corporate network, reevaluating employment systems, and taking other steps to improve managerial effectiveness. Under this theme, IDE will look at the behavior and industrial organization of companies in developing countries that are looking to establish a new presence amidst escalating economic changes.

[Related Research Projects]

Local African Firms in the New Trend of Globalization

The Rise of Multinational Corporations from Middle East

The Firm-level Productivity in the China's Electrical and Electronics Industry:

A Relationship between Foreign and Local Firms, etc.

(3) Politics/Society: System Transformation and Social Stability

In developing countries, growing social instability often causes major systematic disturbances in the forms of terrorism and political oppression. Systematic unrest can inhibit social stability, regardless of whether the system is authoritarian or democratic.

In this theme, IDE will take a multi-faceted look at developing countries in a highly-interdependent global environ-

ment by investigating what sorts of social transformations are taking place within developing countries, how these changes affect systems, how system transformation influences society, and also how countries can achieve social stability.

[Related Research Projects]

Whither Military Regime in Myanmar?

Conflict and State Formation in Africa and the Middle East

Comprehensive Study on Cuba: Politics, Economy and Society under the New Government of Raúl Castro, etc.

(4) Food/Agriculture/Environment: Expanding Research on Sustainability

Currently, there is significant demand for more in-depth research into sustainability in food, resources, and the environment; for instance, as globalization continues to progress, there is a mounting need to consider transnational reciprocity in the discussion of sustainability. The perspective of resource management, too, is becoming more important as organizations at community, national, and global levels debate how to control water, common land, forests, and other shared resources in a sustainable framework.

Under this theme, IDE will examine the debate surrounding sustainability in developing countries from many different angles.

[Related Research Projects]

"Food Crisis" and Maize Supply in Developing Countries

International Comparison of Environmental Policy Development from Historical Viewpoint

Economic Integration and Recycling in Asia, etc.

4. Acquisition of Competitive Funds (scientific research fund)

IDE will work to secure competitive research funds, such as grants-in-aid for scientific research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, to enhance the Institute's competitive edge, providing a new financial resource for the fulfillment of basic research and a way to energize research activity.

5. Funded Research

In its ERIA support research, IDE will conduct funded research from ERIA, as well as respond to the needs of governmental organizations and private companies by taking advantage of Institute resources to perform funded research.

6. Promotion of Research Exchange

(1) Dispatching researchers abroad

Send researchers to international organizations, foreign universities, and research agencies abroad to improve research quality and expand the research network.

(2) Welcoming visiting researchers from abroad

Welcome researchers and interns from abroad to foster research exchange and expand the research network.

(3) Participating in international meetings and academic conferences abroad

Establish an IDE session at the April 2010 meeting of the Association of American Geographers to discuss comparative research on industrial processes in China and India and present research results, encourage researchers to participate in and present research at conferences and international meetings, and promote world-class research exchange and transmission.

(4) Constructing a research network

Optimize the construction of a network linking major domestic/international research agencies and leading universities from the perspectives of choice and concentration.

III. Important Activities

1. Policy Proposal Research

- (1) Construction of an Asian Research Network (new)
- (2) Joint CJK FTA Research
- (3) Research between Japan and China
- (4) Investment Promotion Program for Africa

2. Regular Research Projects

- (1) Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables (II)
- (2) Analysis of Current Affairs in Asia
- (3) Economic Modeling on Asia for Long-term Evaluation(EMALE)
- (4) Compilation and Application of Trade Indices: A feature of long-term trade indices (V)

3. Policy Issue Research

- (1) Regional Integration in East Asia
- (2) Poverty Reduction and Development Strategy
- (3) Comprehensive Study of India
- (4) Comprehensive Study of China

II. Review of Research Projects

<Policy Proposal Research>

(1) CJK (China, Japan, and Korea) Joint Research Project

In November 1999, at a three-way summit held on the occasion of the ASEAN+3 Summit in Manila, leaders of the three participating countries, Japanese Prime Minister Keizo Obuchi, Chinese Prime Minister Zhu Rongji, and Korean President Kim Dae-jung, agreed to pursue joint research. This joint research, taking the form of a collaborative research project carried out by representative institutes in the three countries, has been ongoing since 2001.

The Action Plan for Promoting Trilateral Cooperation among China, Japan, and Korea (CJK) which was determined at the Trilateral Summit in December 2008, included a clause titled "Joint Research on China-Japan-Korea Trilateral Free Trade Agreement (CJK FTA)" which started in 2003 and will reach the conclusion phase in 2008, and further in-depth studies by three institutes. Under this Plan, in 2009, the Japan External Trade Organization (IDE-JETRO), together with the Development Research Center for the State Council of China (DRC) and the Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP), conducted joint research and proposed a policy brief at the meeting of the leaders of these three countries. A policy recommendation to upgrade Joint Research on the CJK FTA by commencing official discussions at the government level was accepted by the leaders and the Joint Study for a trilateral FTA was launched in May 2010, which included representatives of government, business, and academia from the three countries.

Aside from the separated and upgraded government level trilateral joint research on CJK FTA, the existing mechanism of academic trilateral joint research by IDE-JETRO, DRC, and KIEP has been maintained and further utilized to propose policy recommendations on trade, investments, and other comprehensive subjects among the three countries. In March 2010, a workshop for academic trilateral joint research was held in Sanya, China. The international symposium was also held in Seoul, Korea in May, together with a workshop. Based on the discussions and agreements reached during the workshops and the symposium, the policy brief "Joint Report and Policy Recommendations on New Vision for Economic Cooperation between China, Japan, and Korea" was created and submitted to the CJK Trilateral Summit held in May 2010. In addition, workshops to discuss policy recommendations to the CJK Trilateral Summit 2011 were held in Chiba, Japan in September 2010, and in Pusan, Korea in March 2011.

Leader: KUROIWA Ikuo

Members: OZEKI Hiromichi, NABESHIMA Kaoru, HAYAKAWA Kazunobu, TANAKA Kiyoyasu, ISHI-KAWA Yumiko

(2) Structural Adjustments in the Guangdong Economy and Issues in the Coordination of Japan-China Economics and Business

The economic relationship between Japan and China has become increasingly interdependent in terms of trade, direct investment, and human interaction since the end of the 1990s, in pace with the high growth of the Chinese economy, and practical economic integration has been advancing. In view of the future outlook, sound growth and development of the Chinese economy is indispensable to the sustainable growth of Japan, which cannot expect an expansion of demand in the future due to the declining birthrate and aging of the population. At the same time, Japanese technologies related to environmental and energy conservation and production are objects of envy for China, which is striving to change its methods of economic growth. Thus, the Japan-China economy has a complementary relationship, and it is desirable for Japan and China to have a deep understanding of the problems facing them and push forward with mutual cooperation and coordination in order to establish a favorable win-win economic relationship over the future. From such a standpoint, we have conducted research on "economic cooperation between Japan and China" since FY2005.

In FY2010, we conducted research focusing on structural adjustments and conversion of methods of growth in the Guangdong economy, which serves as the driving force of the Chinese economy, and is important when considering future Japan-China economic cooperation. Specifically, we clarified the direction of future economic development in Guangdong Province and issues related to the coordination of Japan-China economics and business by conducting analysis concerning: 1) Japan's policies on industrial sophistication and small and midsized companies; 2) suggestions for industrial sophistication policies of the Guangdong Province, from the standpoints of economic theory, demonstration, and innovation; and 3) the economic relationship between Guangdong Province and Japan and East Asia (current status and challenges). We then compiled the findings in a final report. In addition to the final report, we also held a workshop with the Guangdong government to deepen mutual understanding of research findings.

Organizer: MARUYA Toyojiro

Co-researchers: OZEKI Hiromichi, IZUMI Nana, GOKAN Toshitaka, DING Ke, AMANO Shinya, YO-KOTA Mitsushiro, IKEBE Ryo, FUKUKAWA Shinji (Chairman, The Machine Industry Memorial Foundation), KUCHIKI Akifumi (Professor, Nihon University), SUNAMI Atsushi (Associate Professor, National Graduate Institute for Policy Studies)

(3) Korea-China FTA and its Effect on Third Parties

South Korea is now aggressively seeking to improve its own FTA network further. In this study we attempted to measure the effects of Korea's FTA on third parties, notably those on Japan. Considering a growing interest toward domestic agricultural measures to cope with the possible damages brought about by further FTAs, we also carried out a brief study of Korea's FTA-related agricultural measures.

In this study we measured the effects of Korea-China FTA, and compared the effects with those of Japan-China FTA. Official negotiations of both FTAs have not yet started, therefore, we introduced several assumptions that were led from Korea's and Japan's current FTA tariff concessions tables.

Korea-China FTA is estimated to increase Korea's exports to China by \$27.76 billion, and Japan is estimated to suffer by \$5.336 in Chinese market. On the other hands, China is estimated to increase exports by \$12.638 billion in Korean market, and Japan will suf-

fer by \$1.637 billion.

Japan will benefit substantially from the Japan-China FTA. Japan's additional exports due to Japan-China FTA are estimated to be \$46.675 billion.

Findings obtained from the study of Korea's FTArelated agricultural measures are as follows:

(1) In the process of FTA negotiations, Korea persistently ruled out rice imports, and this has effectively suppressed resistance by farmers.

(2) For Korea, whose economic performance now heavily depends on the external sector, enhancing manufacturing exports is the principal benefit of FTA.(3) Therefore, the idea is widely shared in Korea that

shrinking the agricultural sector is inevitable.

(4) The Korean government is attempting to offer income compensation to encourage inefficient farmers to close down or to assist large scale operation of efficient farmers.

Organizer: OKUDA Satoru Co-researchers: WATANABE Yuichi

(4) Investment Promotion Program for Africa

This program was established in the policy budget of the Japanese government as part of policy implementations in the Yokohama Action Plan at the 4th Tokyo International Conference on African Development in 2008, and has been implemented through the IDE budget. Its objective is to help Japanese companies enter the African continent. The project is based on two main themes:

1. To collect information on African businesses for publication.

2. To provide scientific methodologies to Japanese companies to elaborate policies for overcoming risks and costs involved in business in Africa.

In 2010, an information database on African businesses was completed, both in a Japanese and an English version. It has been made public on our website "African Growing Enterprises (AGE) Files."

We are also involved in three projects with Japanese companies engaged in African business. These projects provide scientific methodologies to the following companies to tackle problems in Africa and also to the Japanese business circle in general:

1) With Toyota South Africa on the HIV/AIDS problem

This project is designed to determine the HIV infection

rate in Toyota factories in South Africa, which has the largest HIV-infected population in the world. It will help Toyota draw up an effective HIV/AIDS treatment program for its employees. In 2010, HIV counseling and testing were conducted among employees. We are now preparing a policy proposal based on the collected data.

2) With Sumitomo Corporation on malaria prevention in Madagascar

This project aims to evaluate the social and economic effects of the Olyset Net, made by Sumitomo Chemical Co., Ltd. It will assist Sumitomo Corporation in efforts toward building nickel and cobalt production bases in Madagascar, to create a malaria prevention program as a CSR activity. In 2010, data was collected in collaboration with the National Statistics Office of Madagascar and Institut Pasteur de Madagascar. We are now preparing a policy recommendations based on the collected data.

3) With Mitsubishi Corporation on community development

This project is intended to help Hernic Ferrochrome (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation and the only Japanese company that operates a mining site in Africa, to establish an effective development plan for its surrounding communities in South Africa. In 2010, a survey on households in communities was conducted. We are now preparing a policy proposal based on the collected data.

Members of the Project: HIRANO Katsumi, ITO Seiro, SATO Chizuko, KONO Hisaki, TSUKADA Kazuya, FUKUNISHI Takahiro, ICHIMURA Hidehiko (University of Tokyo), SAWADA Yasuyuki (University of Tokyo), OHIRA Satoshi (Keio University), FUWA Nobuhiko (Waseda University), KUDAMATSU Masayuki (Stockholm University), ARIMOTO Hiroshi (Hitotsubashi University), YAMAZAKI Jun-ichi (University of Tokyo)

<Analytical Research Contributing to Policy Proposals>

[1] Policy Issue Research

(1) India's Contemporary International Relations: The Way to Major Power

In this research project, the position of an emerging India in the international system has been analyzed. The various aspects of the international relations of India at present are examined as follows.

First, it is recognized that India must regard as most important the relationship with the United States in the present world system. This is because the United States is the sole superpower and has no serious pending problem with India. The relation with China, which is another emerging power in Asia, must be second to the United States because of the tension due to pending problems. However, it is significant that a sense of liberal mutual recognition and coexistence has been growing between the two countries with the deepening economic interdependency. In South Asia, it is Pakistan, with its nuclear weapons, which can be a serious restriction on India's emergence as a major power in the international system. Although Bangladesh, another Muslim state, cannot be a restriction on an emerging India, a prudent response by India might be necessary depending on whether the ruling party in Bangladesh is against India or not.

On the other hand, with its growing recognition as a major power in the world, India is expected to play a more extensive role in the international system, such as providing a developmental contribution to Africa or to peacekeeping operations. India's emphasis on the importance of Africa is intertwined with its growing demand for natural resources in Africa. India's popularity is also evident in East Asia if we observe the discourse of the East Asian Community or ASEAN plus 6, of which India is now considered to be an indispensable partner. Last, it is important to mention Indian immigrants abroad, who can be a unique diplomatic resource for India. For example, the Indian community in the United States is considered to have played an important role in the formation of favorable public opinion in the nuclear agreement between the two countries.

Organizer: KONDO Norio

Co-researchers: HORIMOTO Takenori (Professor, Department of Policy Management, Faculty of Policy Management, Shobi University), SATO Hiroshi (Researcher), IZUYAMA (YOSHIOKA) Marie (Chief, 6th Research Office, Research Department, The National Institute for Defense Studies), ITO Toru (Associate Professor, Department of International Relations, School of Humanities and Social Sciences, National Defense Academy of Japan), NAKATSU Masaaki (Doctoral student, Graduate School of Law, Senshu University), TAMARI Kazutosi (Research Fellow, The Japanese Society for the Promotion of Science), MU-RAYAMA Mayumi

(2) Economic Integration and Its Impact on Industrial Locations in CLMV

Since CLMV countries joined the WTO and AFTA in the 1990s, they have removed or reduced trade barriers across borders and promoted integration with East Asian economies. At the same time, domestic economies have also been integrated through market liberalization and improvement of inland transportation and infrastructure. This parallel advancement in economic integration, which was induced by free movement of goods, services, firms, and people, has significantly affected industrial locations. In the first year of the project (2009), regional data of CLMV countries was collected and refined; in parallel, methods of analysis were explored. In the second year (2010), data collected in the first year was used to conduct statistical analysis on the spatial locations of firms. The following results were obtained: (1) the statistical analysis revealed the pattern of industrial location and factors of industrial locations; and (2) policy implications on industrial location and regional development policy were derived.

Organizer: KUROIWA Ikuo

Co-researchers: KEOLA Souknilanh, KUDO Toshihiro, HAYAKAWA Kazunobu, TSUBOTA Kenmei, ISHIZUKA Futaba, SAKATA Shozo, HATSUKANO Naomi, KUMAGAI Satoru, GOKAN Toshitaka, HAMAGUCHI Nobuaki (Professor, Kobe University)

(3) Disabled People and Government Policies in Southern Asian Countries: From the Viewpoint of "Disability and Development"

This research project aims to review articles regarding disability and development in South Asian countries and to find the effects of the Disabled People's Organizations Movement on these countries' policies for poverty reduction and improvement of the lives of disabled people.

In the first chapter, the two common frameworks for this report were proposed. The first is development of disability laws and institutional systems for people with disabilities. The second is development of disabled people's organizations (DPOs). The second chapter discusses the two types of DPO in India. Each has a different background and domain of activity. The situation provides the important implications for disability and development. In the third chapter, the current situation of special education in India and the efforts of NGOs and DPOs toward inclusive education was analyzed. The fourth chapter discussed the effect of democratization in Nepal in the 1990s on its PWDs and their policies for them. While these new trends brought PWDs more political participation and policy changes, they still have many challenges even in these aspects. In another chapter regarding Nepal, public interest litigation (PIL), DPO movements, and their advocates were discussed. Five PIL precedents were introduced, and the central issue of complaints, the role of the Supreme Court, and the implementation of court decisions have been left for further discussion. The sixth chapter argues that, although CAHD, which was invented as a tool for disability inclusive development in Bangladesh, works well, there are still problems of lack of ownership of DPOs and weak empowerment of deaf people. In the final chapter, the history of independent living (IL) of PWDs in Pakistan was reviewed with a focus on DPI Pakistan and the Milestone Society. The main issue is the possibility of IL in developing countries.

With this report, we found diversified development patterns of disability inclusive development in South Asian countries, and in most cases, the DPOs performed a significant role in the development.

Organizer: MORI Soya

Co-researchers: YAMAGATA Tatsufumi, TSUJITA Yuko, KOBAYASHI Masayuki, INOUE Kyoko (Professor, Faculty of International Relations, Daito Bunka University), OKUHIRA Masako (Manager, International Training Section, Planning and Training Division, Japanese Society for Rehabilitation of Persons with Disabilities)

[2] Regular Analytical Research Projects

(1) Analysis of Current Affairs in Asia

Our project analyzed political, economic, and social development in 2010 in the 23 countries and regions of the Far East, East Asia, Southeast Asian, and South Asia. In addition to country- and region-specific reports, we investigated US policy toward Asia. In this project, we discussed ASEAN and the Russian Far East in region-specific reports.

In 2010, high growth of Asian economies served as a driving force of global economic recovery. Expansion of the economy was remarkable in China and India. China's GDP eventually exceeded that of Japan, to become the second largest in the world. Backed by overall economic recovery, many Asian developing economies practiced "exit strategies," raising domestic interest rate targets or reserve-requirement ratios. A global price hike in food grains and energy commodities gave warning of domestic inflation in several Asian developing economies. In several resourcerich countries, "resource boom" is becoming a reality, thanks to a surge in the price of natural resources.

As for political issues, in 2010, a general election was held in Myanmar for the first time since 1990, and consequently Aung San Suu Kyi was at last released after 7 and a half year's house arrest. North Korea bombarded South Korean Yeonpyeong Island, and this drastically escalated tension on the Korean Peninsula. China aggressively sought for its maritime rights and interests in East Asia, and this induced wariness against China in the neighboring countries of Japan, Korea, and ASEAN members. In Thailand, conflict between pro- and anti-Thaksin groups continued throughout 2010. More than 100,000 ISAF troops deployed to Afghanistan were not able to transform their disadvantageous situation. In the Philippines, Benigno Aquino III was elected the new president, and Kim Jong-Un emerged as the de facto next leader of North Korea.

These research results have been published in the

Yearbook of Asian Affairs 2011 (in Japanese) as well as in *Ajiken World Trends* (monthly journal in Japanese).

Co-researchers: Koji Murata (Doshisha University), Kunio Minato (Ritsumeikan University), Emi Mifune (Komazawa University), Shingo Mikamo (Shinshu University), Ayame Suzuki (Fukuoka Women's University), Kumiko Mizuno (PT. Jiji Pers Indonesia), Yoshie Shimane (Ryukoku University), Mitsue Osada(Tsukuba Gakuin University), Masami Mizuno (Nihon University), Satoru Okuda, Makoto Abe, Masahiko Nakagawa, Norihiro Sasaki,Ding Ke, Takayuki Takeuchi, Hiroshi Ikegami, Sanae Suzuki, Minoru Teramoto, Shozo Sakata, Naomi Hatsukano, Norihiko Yamada, Shin'ya Imaizumi, Koichi Kawamura, Miki Hamada, Toshihiro Kudo, Yuko Tsujita, Etsuyo Arai, Yoshihiro Nakanishi, Hitoshi Suzuki, Hideki Hiraizumi

(2) Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Table II

The recent large-scale opening of markets in Asian countries (e.g. China's entry into the WTO in 2001) has promoted the relocation of production bases of multinational firms through an expansion of the mobility of labor, goods, and services. In addition, due to the emergence of new market economies such as the BRICs, the production networks in the Asia-Pacific region have become increasingly complex.

This study aimed to compile Asian and BRICs international input-output tables for the year 2005 in order to capture the above structural changes occurring in the world economy. In the study, we have developed analytical methods as well as estimation methodologies for the tables.

Organizer: INOMATA Satoshi Co-researchers: KUWAMORI Hiroshi, TAMAMU-RA Chiharu, UCHIDA Yoko, SANO Takao

(3) Compilation and Application of Trade Indices V: A Feature of Long-Term Trade Indices

Purpose of this research project is to focus on the data in conducting an examination of the problems of formulating world trade models, in addition to calculating trade indexes and examining their utilization.

This project has three main fields: (1) problems in the compilation and evaluation of world trade matrixes, the formulation of long-term time series trade data employing common trade classifications, improvement of the time series for international comparison, its consistency, and the correction of its consistency to the greatest possible degree; (2) formulation and evaluation of trade price indexes, the stability of unit values and the shift in units of quantity which occur when unit values are employed as values, continuous study of problems of unit values and the potential for their use when quality changes; and (3) investigation of international comparisons and economic analyses employing various trade indexes in addition to trade price indexes and the achievement of an understanding of trade structure which considers trends in technological choice.

Organizer: NODA Yosuke

Co-researchers: KINOSHITA Soshichi (Nagoya University), KUMAKURA Masanaga (Osaka City University), GEMMA Masahiko (Waseda University), KUROKO Masato, YOSHINO Hisao, KUMAGAI Satoru, MITSUO Hisayuki

(4) Economic Modeling on Asia for Long-term Evaluation (EMALE)

This research project attempts to provide an outlook regarding long-term growth prospects based on domestic demand expansion in Asian countries. Macroeconometric models, which give attention to demographic factors as determinants of consumption, are constructed, and alternative policy options for domestic demand expansion are discussed. First, consumption functions with demographic variables are estimated for Asian countries. Second, a prototype econometric model is constructed for China, and economic implications of demographic transition are discussed. Third, an overview of prospects of consumption demand of low income households in Asian countries is provided. Finally, issues regarding national accounts and macroeconometric model-building in China are discussed.

Organizer: NOGAMI Hiroki

Co-researchers: UEMURA Jinichi, OHIZUMI Keiichirō (Japan Research Institute, Economics Department, Center for Pacific Business Studies)

[3] Spot Research Projects

(1) Democracy and Development in Bihar: The Case of Bihar

In November 2005, the Bihar Assembly elections finally brought the Lalu Prasad Yadav-Rabri Devi regime to an end. A coalition government led by the Janata Dal (United) with the Bharatiya Janata Party replaced a 15-year-long rule, and Nitish Kumar of the JD(U) assumed office as the Chief Minister of Bihar. Since coming to power, the Nitish Kumar government has announced a slew of policy initiatives, and this has triggered optimism about the future of Bihar among the people of the state, as well as among observers of Indian affairs.

This research project attempts to investigate voters' political awareness and voting behavior in the Bihar Assembly elections in October-November 2010. In doing so, we try to reveal the performance of the Nitish Kumar government as well as the politico-economic underpinnings of India's poorest state.

Organizer: MINATO Kazuki (South Asian Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE)

Co-researchers: NAKAMIZO Kazuya (Visiting Associate Professor, Graduate School of Asian and African Studies, Kyoto University)

(2) Power-succession in the Workers' Party of Korea

This project analyzed current political and economic affairs concerning power-succession in the Democratic People's Republic of Korea. In September 2010, Kim Jong-Un, who was widely believed to be the successor to Kim Jong-II, the present supreme leader of the Workers' Party and Democratic People's Republic of Korea, appeared in public for the first time. We reconfirmed that the preparation for inheritance in the WP had already begun, and attempted to explore the political and economic circumstances which the next leadership would face.

Nakagawa investigated the recent personnel changes in major organizations of the Party and the state. Mun Ho-II examined macro-economical trends before and after the monetary replacement which was implemented at the end of 2009. Miyamoto reviewed international sanctions on the D.P.R.K., which the rocket launches and nuclear experiments had provoked, and explored the possible measures of the government and the WP against them. Mun Songhui surveyed the external economic policies implemented over four decades. She focused on, for example, the introduction of industrial plants from western countries in the 1970s, and the organization of a new enterprise group intended to induce foreign investments in 2010. Pak researched the D.P.R.K's economic policies toward China, which is currently operating development plans in the region contiguous to D.P.R.K.

Organizer: NAKAGAWA Masahiko

Co-researchers: Moon Ho-Il(Institute of Economic Research, Hitotsubashi University) Miyamoto Satoru(Assoc.Proferssor., Seigakuin University), Mun Songhui(Graduate School of Humanities & Sociology Department of Korean Studies, University of Tokyo), Pak Jaehoon(Assoc.Proferssor., Korea University[Tokyo])

[4] Collaborative Research Projects

(1) Fukuoka Prefecture-IDE Joint Research "East Asia's Economic Integration and Fukuoka's Development"

The administration of Japanese prefectures and municipalities must maintain the vigor of the regional economy as birthrates are declining and the population is aging. To that end, they should take in the vitality of the growing Asian economy.

The "Fukuoka/Asia Special International Strategy Zone Plan," which the Fukuoka prefectural government is attempting to promote, is aimed at deepening relations with East Asia and expanding the business opportunities of companies located in Fukuoka Prefecture by making Fukuoka a base in Asia in terms of state-of-the-art growth industries, environment, medical treatment, tourism, fashion, and the promotion of small and medium-sized companies. First, creation of business opportunities through the improvement of access to Asia is indispensable to making Fukuoka an industrial base in Asia. To achieve that goal, companies in Fukuoka must grow into "Asian companies" that play a role in the Asian region through the enhancement of their international development capabilities, in addition to the improvement of access of Fukuoka to Asia and vice versa.

Based on this understanding, the Fukuoka prefectural government and the Institute of Developing Economies, Japan External Trade Organization conducted joint research on "East Asian Economic Integration and Development of the Fukuoka Region" in FY2010. Workshops were held in Fukuoka Prefecture, with seminars held there at the time of each workshop. Through such seminars, reports were created on guidelines for entry into China. A symposium, "Fukuoka Developing with Asia," was held jointly by Fukuoka Prefecture and IDE at ACROS Fukuoka on March 22, 2011. Fukuoka Prefecture Governor Wataru Aso and Takashi Shiroishi, President of IDE, delivered keynote speeches at the symposium.

Organizer: Toyojiro Maruya

Research Topic: Access between Fukuoka and Asia Organizer: Daisuke Hiratsuka

Co-Researchers: Satoru Kumagai, Kenmei Tsubota, Hiroshi Hoshino(Kyushu University), Yoshihiro Kameyama (Kagawa University), Kentaro Nakajima (Hitotsubashi University),

Research Topic: Environment

Organizer: Michikazu Kojima

Co-Researchers: Shitaro Mine, Koide Hideo(Seinan Gakuin University), Nobuhiro Horii(Kyushu University), Toshizo Maeda(Institute for Global Environmental Strategies), Meiji Sato(Kyushu Techno Research Inc), Ryuichi Nagatsu (Fukuoka Prefecture), Kenya Ishida(Fukuoka Prefecture)

Research Topic: Automobile Parts

Organizer: Toyojiro Maruya

Co-Researchers: Kazuo Azuma(Toyota Motor(China) Investment Co., Ltd), Kiyoaki Shiotsugu(Kyushu University)

(2) WTO-IDE Joint Research "Trade in Valueadded in East Asia "

The "trade in value-added" approach enables us to redefine the relationships between countries of origin and destination in international trade. In contrast to the orthodox concept of trade balances based on foreign trade statistics, it focuses on the value-added contents of traded goods, and considers the contribution of countries to the generation of added value at each stage of the production process of a given commodity. For example, it is known that China's exported goods use for their production a large amount of intermediate inputs supplied by neighboring Asian countries. Accordingly, a significant part of Chinese exports is attributable to foreign origins in terms of value-added.

The concept of "trade in value-added" is not necessarily new or surprising. It has already been studied widely at venues like the World Trade Organization, with the hope of bringing an alternative perspective for trade negotiations. In practice, however, the idea was hardly realized due to the lack of appropriate methodology or databases. The evaluation of "trade in valueadded" requires a rigorous estimation of the valueadded generation process, which cannot be captured by conventional trade statistics that only record the physical transfer of commodities across borders.

The international input-output table constructed by the Institute of Developing Economies, JETRO, is believed to offer a powerful analytical tool for this problem. This massive dataset combines national input-output tables of various countries at a given point of time. It provides a detailed map of international transactions of goods and services, and thus enables us to trace the value-added generation process of every commodity in every country at every production stage. The joint research aimed to synthesize the WTO's knowledge and expertise on international trade and the IDE's experience in constructing international input-output tables, and to contribute to the evaluation and analysis of "trade in value-added" in the field of international economics.

Organizer: INOMATA Satoshi

Co-researchers: MENG Bo, Hubert Escaith (Chief Statistician, WTO), Andreas Maurer (Statistician, WTO), Christophe Degain (Statistician, WTO)

<Basic/ Comprehensive Research>

(1) Laos: The New Development of "Chintanakan Mai"

So far, many previous studies have seen "Chintanakan Mai," which was advocated at the 4th Congress of the Lao People's Revolutionary Party in 1986, as one of the most important key factors to study in relation to present-day Laos. In a more limited sense, it is considered to be a policy of market-oriented economic reform called "New Economic Mechanism." In a broad sense, it is considered to be a comprehensive reform

policy including social and political reform as well. Based on these perspectives, previous studies tended to see the year 1986 as a watershed of Laotian history, and to divide the history into two periods, before and after 1986: a period of socialism and a period of reform or market economy. Therefore, they tended to see current changes in Laos as the result or achievement of the reform started in 1986. The year 1986 is always a starting point for understanding Laos today. However, we reject this assumption and attempt to re-examine "Chintanakan Mai" through relativizing it into a history after 1975. According to our findings, "Chintanakan Mai" is not a watershed of Laotian history, but rather a temporary slogan to further postwar reconstruction. Next, we set up a new perspective that Laos has been on two overlapped processes, a long process to idealistic socialism since its foundation and a process to realistic nation-building. This means that we should locate Laos in this historical process in order to understand present changes. Of course, there are some gaps between the ideal and reality. Today, the Party is attempting to narrow the gaps. By doing this, it makes some institutional changes in many fields. This is the situation in Laos today. Based on this perspective, we research current movements and events in politics, the economy, and society in Laos today.

Organizer: YAMADA Norihiko

Co-researchers: KEOLA Souknilanh, SUZUKI Motoyoshi (Economic Advisor, Ministry of Finance and Economic Development, Sierra Leone), TOMITA Shinsuke (Assistant Professor, Graduate School of Agriculture and Life Science, The University of Tokyo), YANO Junko (PhD Researcher, Hitotsubashi University Graduate School of Language and Society), Phanhpakit ONPHANHDALA (Assistant Professor, Graduate School of International Cooperation Studies, Kobe University)

(2) The Prospects of the Military Regime in Myanmar

More than twenty-two years have passed since the military took power by force in Myanmar in 1988. The newly-born military government tackled enormous challenges, that is, economic development and national reconciliation. The military government opened its door to the regional and global economy and inaugurated transition toward a market economy. The military government held an election in 1990, although it eventually refused to transfer power to the National League for Democracy that had won a landslide victory. The military achieved a ceasefire with major ethnic insurgents. The international environment surrounding Myanmar has also drastically changed. Thus, the birth of a military government was indeed an historic event for Myanmar. Our study group takes stock of these events and identifies underlying changes, so that we can envisage a future of the post-military, and perhaps post-Than Shwe, era in this country.

Organizer: KUDO Toshihiro

Co-researchers: NAKANISHI Yoshihiro, YAMADA Miwa, INO Kenji (Professor, The University of Kitakyushu), TOSA Keiko (Professor, Tokyo University of Foreign Studies), MASUDA Tomoko (JICA Expert on Education), Tom Kramer (Research Fellow, Transnational Institute), Bi Shihong (Associate Professor, Yunnan University)

(3) Conflict and State Formation in Africa and the Middle East

This research project examined conflicts in order to identify and conceptualize other dimensions of conflict beyond the obvious destructive aspects. Focusing particularly on Africa and the Middle East, the aim was to provide a mid-range transect of conflicts. The key concept of interest was "state formation," which entails broad processes such as establishment of state institutions, nation-building and national integration, and consolidation of a particular power structure and political economy. We conducted case studies of six countries: Cote d'Ivoire, Iraq, Kenya, Lebanon, Somalia, and South Africa. These countries were selected to represent a transect of diverse conflicts in terms of historical background, nature, scale, and intensity, in order that we could examine the analytical validity of our concept of "state formation" which was expected to be used further to deepen our understandings of conflicts. The topics of the case studies were as follows: destabilization of Lebanon under sectarianism (Aoyama); amendment of the Constitution after post-election violence in Kenya (Tsuda); non-formal security organizations known in post-war Iraq as the "Awakening Councils" (Yamao); police sector reform in post-apartheid South Africa (Abe); reexamination of the notion of a "collapsed state" through the example of Somalia (Endo); voter registration as the central task in the Ivorian peace process (Sato). This project, which began in April 2009, was completed in February 2011. The final report was published in January 2012.

Organizer: SATO Akira

Co-researchers: TSUDA Miwa, ENDO Mitsugi (Professor, Tokyo University), AOYAMA Hiroyuki (Associate Professor, Tokyo University of Foreign Studies), ABE Toshihiro (Associate Professor, Otani University), YAMAO Dai (Lecturer, Kyusyu University)

(4) Local African Firms in the New Era of Globalization

The business environment in Africa has changed drastically since 2000. African firms benefited from an upsurge of commodity prices, preferential access to the OECD markets, increases in foreign direct investment in manufacturing and service sectors, and improvement of the investment climate. Meanwhile, the development community has recently recognized industrialization in poor countries as a strategy for poverty reduction and sustained economic growth.

Those favorable changes in the business environment may lead to improvement of the structural problems that have hindered the growth of African firms for more than two decades. This project explored changes in African producers based on original firm-level information in five countries, namely, pineapple farmers in Ghana, smallholders in Uganda, the export-oriented textile industry in Madagascar, furniture workshops in Tanzania, and the construction industry in Burkina Faso.

From these five case studies, we found significant changes occurring among local producers under times of economic growth. African farmers and firms have started to supply products to export markets in Ghana and Madagascar, smallholders have introduced new cash crops for beer industries in Uganda, local firms are challenging international bidding in Burkina Faso, and the cluster of workshops is expanding in Tanzania. In all cases except Tanzanian furniture workshops, producers absorbed new technologies and knowledge successfully through interaction with foreign firms or exporters. This is an encouraging result for sustaining growth in African countries. Although literature argued an absolute lack of capability of African producers, they are capable of exploiting new opportunities. On the other hand, the case studies also showed a disparity in capability among producers, based particularly on levels of assets and education. In addition, some cases indicated a high risk in export markets. Expansion of domestic markets may be a key for broadbased growth of African producers.

Organizer: FUKUNISHI Takahiro

Co-researchers: Yessica C.Y. CHUNG (Research Associate, JICA Research Institute, Japan International Cooperation Agency), MUTO Megumi (Research Fellow, JICA Research Institute, Japan International Cooperation Agency), NISHIURA Akio (Professor, Soka University), SHIMOKOSHI Shinobu (Economist, JICA Research Institute, Japan International Cooperation Agency), SUZUKI Aya (Faculty Fellow, Foundation for Advanced Studies on International Development), TOKUORI Tomomi (Advisor, Japan International Cooperation Agency)

(5) "Food Crisis" and Maize Supply in Developing Countries

The food crisis in 2008 changed our perspective toward grains. Since the 1980s, grain prices remained low in the international market, and it has been considered to be an inexpensive food with abundant supply. However, prices began to rise in the mid 2000s, reaching an historical record in 2008. Although prices dropped after the financial crisis, grain is no longer the inexpensive food it was in the past.

Many economists in international organizations and research institutes have analyzed the causes and consequences of the food crisis. These studies mainly adopted country and whole grains as a unit of analysis, and utilize data from the Food and Agricultural Organization and the United States Department of Agriculture. Their focus is on the international market as a whole. Therefore, except for certain important players in the international markets, such as the United States, we have little knowledge regarding changes in the supply and demand of grains in each individual country.

Instead of analyzing whole grains, we focused on a single crop. We selected maize because it is the mostproduced grain in the world, and has wider variety of uses than other grains. We chose seven countries: principle producers, exporters, and consumers (the United States, China, Argentina, Brazil and Mexico), a country whose supply-demand structure has changed significantly (Thailand), and a country in which maize is produced mainly for self-consumption (Malawi). Having understood the changes in demand for maize, we analyze the structure of maize production and its changes in recent years.

The results of this research project will be published as a volume in IDE Research Series, *Expanding Maize Supply and Demand in Developing Countries: Integration and Segmentation of its Market*, in Japanese.

Organizer: SHIMIZU Tatsuya

Co-researchers: HOKEN Hisatoshi, SHIGETOMI Shinichi, OE Tetsuo (Associate Professor, Meiji University), SHIMIZU Junichi (Senior Researcher, Policy Research Institute, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries), TAKANE Tsutomu (Professor, Tokyo University of Agriculture), TANI Hiroyuki (Professor, Sophia University)

(6) Comprehensive Study on Cuba: Politics, Economy, and Society under the New Government of Ra?l Castro

Since the end of the Cold War, Cuba has suffered from serious economic crises, while it has attracted much attention at events such as the 50th anniversary of the 1959 Cuban Revolution and the succession of power from Fidel Castro to his younger brother Raúl. In this project, we have examined the following questions: (1) Has Cuba's totalitarian regime transformed into another type of regime? (2) Is the government attempting to resolve economic problems, and if so, how? (3) How can we evaluate Cuba's famous social development under the economic crisis? (4) Has any social plurality emerged? (5) Has there been any alienation between Cuba and the United States? (6) What role has the Bolivarian Alliance for the Americas (ALBA) regional agreement played in Cuba's politics and economy?

Our discoveries through the project are as follows: (1) Cuba's revolutionary regime has been transforming from Juan Linz's totalitarian regime to a posttotalitarian regime. (2) With the continuing problems of a dual exchange rate system and restrictions on hard currency, the Ra?l Castro administration has attempted to shift from politics- and ideology-oriented economic policy toward rational economic management. (3) Linda Cook's Cuban socialist welfare state model marked its peak in the 1980s, and after the suspension of Soviet economic assistance, the model has been fading. (4) Although racism had long been assumed to be a resolved social issue, and therefore politically invisible until the end of the Cold War, it has become visible due to claims mainly by Afro-Cuban groups, yet their complaints are varied and it has been difficult to unify them into a national movement. (5) The identity gap related to the monasticism of the Cuban regime between Cuba and the United States has caused a long-standing confrontation between the two countries, and thus as long as Cuba persists in its current political system, the confrontational relations will continue. (6) Cuba's interests in ALBA are mainly economic, as it was beneficial for Cuba to exchange favorably priced petroleum from Venezuela and healthcare personnel exports.

Organizer: YAMAOKA Kanako

Co-researchers: USAMI Koichi , TANAKA Takashi (Professor, College of International Studies, Chubu University), KOZAKI Tomomi (Professor, Department of Economics, Senshu University), KOIKE Yasuhiro (Professor, School of Foreign Studies, Aichi Prefectural University), KUDO Takako (Associate Professor, Faculty of Economics, Keio University)

(7) How Chinese Industries Have Developed?: Trace the development path in 30 years

China has achieved striking economic development since it initiated its open-door policy in 1978, becoming the world's second largest economic in 2010. Market structures within each of the various industries of China are extremely diverse compared to India, which has a population that is similar to China's, or compared to Japan, which China has recently surpassed in terms of total GDP. This fact implies that fixed costs, which constitute the cost of entering an industries, are low but have not decrease, and that variable costs are low, thereby facilitating a longer stay in the market. Therefore, we explore fixed cost, variable costs, and other factors that have determined the developmental path in the past, and which can be used to predict the future development of industries in China. In regard to entry cost, we focus on technology and distribution channels. We also refer to food production, energy policy, and the labor market.

Organizer: WATANABE Mariko Co-researchers: DING Ke, HOKEN Hisatoshi, KIMURA Koichiro, YAMAGUCHI Mami, ASUYAMA Yoko, MARUKAWA Tomoo (Professor, Tokyo University), OHARA Moriki (Associate Professor, Ryukoku University), HORII Nobuhiro (Associate Professor, Kyushu University)

(8) Social Welfare and Governmentality in Emerging Countries

Emerging countries in Asia, Latin America, and Africa have witnessed rapid development of social welfare in the last decade. Economic development and democratization, as well as increasing support from the World Bank and other international relief institutions, are background factors in this development. This project aims to examine how and on what groundwork the social welfare system is structured and operated in emerging countries in Asia and Latin America. The study thereby elucidates how social welfare institutions operate to govern people. Most existing studies on social welfare in developed and emerging countries have maintained that the provision of welfare should be improved through establishing universal social rights. On the other hand, few studies on developed countries address how the provision of welfare has served to maintain social order by intervening in people's lives and conditioning people to behave as ideal citizens. Following the latter approach, this project aims to offer critical interpretations of social welfare practices in emerging countries. The idea of governmentality that was proposed by Michel Foucault is one of the pivotal ideas in our analysis. The concept of governmentality refers to the complex processes by which policies not only impose conditions but also influence people's indigenous norms of conduct so that they themselves contribute, not necessarily consciously, to a government's model of social order. Cases from educational reform in India, urban redevelopment projects in the Philippines, social assistance programs in Turkey, and social welfare for the aged in Argentina will be examined. Project members largely focus on the work of neo-liberalism as new governmentality, while paying attention to the historical and cultural context of the respective countries.

Organizer: MURAKAMI Kaoru

Co-researchers: USAMI Koichi, YONEMURA Akio, OSHIKAWA Fumiko (Professor, Center for Integrated Area Studies, Kyoto University), SEKI Koki (Associate Professor, Graduate School for International Development and Cooperation, Hiroshima University)

(9) Political Participation by "the Excluded" in Latin America

Through this research project, we aim to explore the origins and changes of political (or democratic) practices in progressive local governments in the age of "left turns" in Latin America. Paying special attention to "the excluded" group that grew under the era of "neoliberalism," we attempt to grasp by what sort of measures and to what extent local governments have accomplished the "political inclusion" of "the excluded," and, at the same time, have influenced national (democratic) politics in each case.

Organizer: UETANI Naokatsu

Co-researchers: KONTA Ryohei, UKEDAHiroyuki (Tokyo University of Foreign Studies), FUNAKI Ritsuko (Chuo University)

(10) Political, Economic, and Social Issues in Latin America

Latin American countries took great benefit from an increase in the prices of primary products until 2008. However, many of these countries were affected by the latest economic crisis. Many leftist governments which were formed criticizing neo-liberal policies introduced in the 1990's are now facing serious economic situations. The countries in this region have serious social problems such as drugs and poverty. Despite such circumstances, there is limited Japanese-language media coverage of Latin American affairs. This project aims to analyze actual Latin American situations from the viewpoints of political science, economics, sociology, and international relations. We have published two volumes of a journal titled "Latin American Report" vol. 28, no. 1 & no. 2.

Organizer: USAMI Koichi

Co-researchers: KONTA Ryohei, YONEMURA Akio, YAMAOKA Kanako, SAKAGUCHI Aki, KITANO Koichi, SHIMIZU Tatsuya, UETANI Naokatsu, MU-RAI Tomoko

(11) Firm, Market and Industry in Developing Economies: Exploring a New Industrial Development Theory

How can developing economies become developed economies? A key is the development of industries that constitute the supply side of the economy. How should business and industries be grown, and how should the market mechanism be grown and utilized to reach this target? Policymakers have been seeking for the answer to these questions, and academics have been able to present a number of anecdotal answers, but never a clear systematic answer. Foundational research and policy implications were not interrelated with each other. Looking at the current progress of developmental studies, it can be seen that more focus is placed on public policy related to health, risks, and education. Few studies address the issue of how to grow the industry.

IDE has a long history of fieldwork on businesses, markets, and industrial development in developing economies. The approaches were diverse, including management studies, sociology, and history. In this context, intensive interviews and deepened material investigation as the main method of approach has been the advantage of IDE research. IDE has accumulated a large amount of knowledge regarding industrial development in developing economies. Recent developments in economics, particularly in industrial organization, can shed light on the field. Effective integration of these approaches is expected to give more analytical and practical knowledge on how to

This project is motivated by a desire to intensify and deepen inter-approach communication regarding research on industrial development.

Organizer: WATANABE Mariko

Co-researchers: KAWAKAMI Momoko, MACHIKI-TA Tomohiro, FUJITA Mai, HAYAKAWA Kazunobu

(12) Dealing with Differences: The Politics of Tolerance in Developing Countries

Why and how do individuals, groups, and states acquire attitudes or institutions that accommodate differences in ethnicity, religion, and ideas? This research project aims to answer this question through the examination of (1) contact with and perceived threat from out-groups, (2) institutions that deter inter-group conflict or majoritarian tyranny, and (3) the way in which the state defines its citizens. Case studies including India, Turkey, and Kazakhstan reveal conditions that enhance political tolerance despite political instability/ insecurity.

In the first year of this two-year research project, literature reviews and preliminary analysis of data were conducted, yielding the following findings. First, a literature review on political tolerance showed that individual-level determinants such as authoritarianism, education, contact, and threat perception had robust effects on tolerance. What are less known are the mediating factors that enhance or reduce these effects. In recent years, increasing attention has been directed toward the impact of contextual factors on threat and contact effects. Second, a preliminary analysis of the Punjab conflict in India was conducted with a threeplayer outbidding model, as adapted from the conventional two-player outbidding model. The three-player model accounted for the ultimate end of the ethnic conflict better than the two-player model did. Third, a literature review on post-Soviet Kazakhstan politics found that the major focus in research shifted from ethnic politics (especially on Kazakhization and ethnic Russians) to authoritarianism, after color revolutions swept through post-Soviet countries.

Organizer: HAZAMA Yasushi Co-researchers: KONDO Norio, OKA Natsuko

(13) Comparative Studies on Political Institutions in Southeast Asia

The main purpose of this research project is to show how political institutions influence policy outcomes as well as the stability of political regimes in Southeast Asia. The original ASEAN members-Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, the Philippines, and Singapore-have developed institutions for representative government since their independence. Although all the five countries have experienced authoritarian rule, the Philippines, Thailand, and Indonesia accomplished full-scale democratization in the past two decades. Malaysia and Singapore still cannot be seen as democracies; nevertheless, political parties and elections are essential tools for rulers to assume and exert power even in these countries.

Five countries have been put in relatively similar structural conditions. None of the five societies are im-

mune to political tensions arising from a religious or ethnic divide. To a greater or lesser extent, they have succeeded in industrialization and experienced rapid economic growth. However, their records of policy performance and political stability vary. We will attempt to show how political institutions function as mediating factors between social structure and political performance by comparative studies of five cases.

Organizer: NAKAMURA Masashi

Co-researchers: SUZUKI Sanae, SHIGETOMI Shinichi, KAWANAKA Takeshi, KAWAMURA Koichi, AOKI-OKABE Maki

(14) The Change in Social Contract in Egypt

The purpose of this research project was to analyze the so-called "Social Contract" in Egypt in terms of its effectiveness and modification. In Egypt, fulfilling the terms of the social contract is regarded as a condition of a de jure government. However, during the last 40 years it seems that the validity of the social contract has been changing due to the political and economic conditions surrounding Egypt. Therefore, in this project we reconsidered the effectiveness of the social contract during the Mubarak regime, in particular.

In the preliminary report titled "Changes in the Social Contract in Egypt" (in Japanese), we discussed the modification of the social contract from various point of views such as economic policy, social welfare policy, labor movements, and political awareness.

Organizer: INO Takeji (Professor, Wayo Women's University)

Co-researchers: TSUCHIYA Ichiki, YAMADA Toshikazu, SUZUKI Emi (Associate Professor, Waseda University), IWASAKI Erina (Lecturer, Kyoritsu Women's University), KANAYA Misa (Collaborative Researcher, Sophia University)

(15) The Rise of Multinational Corporations from Middle East

The purpose of this research project is to analyze the nature of multinational Arab firms. Enterprises in the region have expanded their activities since many Arab nations began implementing economic reform programs in the 1990s. Moreover, some large enterprises have recently expanded their activities beyond their borders. In this project, we focused on those newly multinational corporations (MNCs) from the Arab Middle East, and analyzed them in terms of their nature and competitiveness.

In 2010, the first year of the two-year project, we discussed the competitive advantages of newly multinational corporations from emerging countries in general, and collected basic information on MNCs from GCC countries and Egypt. In the preliminary report titled "The Rise of Multinational Corporations from the Middle East" (in Japanese), we mainly focused on the case of MNCs from Saudi Arabia, Dubai, and Egypt.

Organizer: TSUCHIYA Ichiki

Co-researchers: SAITO Jun, FUKUDA Sadashi, NA-GAOKA Shinsuke (Research Fellow, Kyoto University), HOSOI Takeru (Associate Professor, Kokugakuin University)

(16) Social Transformation in Post-transition South Africa

This research project explores various aspects of transformation in "post-transition" South Africa. Although the unequal character of South African society has its origins in the apartheid era, challenges the country is now facing cannot be explained by the "legacies of apartheid" alone, and a closer look at the dynamics of change in "post-transition" era, i.e., the period after political transition from apartheid to non-racial democracy, is warranted. For this purpose, we explore both domestic and international/transnational aspects, as we perceive that the South African transition took place in the context of rapid integration into the post-cold war world order with liberal democracy and market economy as the two main pillars, both in terms of its origin and process. Topics covered vary across political, economic, and social terrain, and include democratization and traditional authority (by Yoshihiko Fujimoto), trade and investment (South Africa's WTO policy by Akiko Yanai, Chinese FDI by Koichiro Kimura, and South Africa's FDI on the African continent by Akio Nishiura), agricultural development (by Chizuko Sato), immigrants and xenophobia (Chinese immigrants by Eiichi Yoshida and immigrants from neighboring African countries by Akiyo Aminaka), and civil society's role in social development (by Kumiko Makino).

In FY2010, which was the first year of the twoyear project, we invited five distinguished academics (Prof. Shin Kawashima, Prof. Scarlett Cornelissen, Prof. Hussein Solomon, Prof. Katsuhiko Kitagawa, and Prof. Jeremy Seekings) for seminars to share their views on the international relations of South Africa, a comparative perspective on its social policy, and the historical context of its transition. At the end of the fiscal year, a report titled "Social Transformation in Post-transition South Africa: An Interim Report" was published in Japanese.

Organizer: MAKINO Kumiko

Co-researchers: SATO Chizuko, YOSHIDA Eiichi, KIMURA Koichiro, YANAI Akiko, NISHIURA Akio (Professor, Soka University), FUJIMOTO Yoshihiko (PhD candidate, Hiroshima University), AMINAKA Akiyo (Research Fellow, Japan Society for the Promotion of Science)

(17) Analysis of the Social Policy for the Victims of Agent Orange/Dioxin in Vietnam

This research program focused on social policy concerning the victims of Agent Orange sprayed by U.S forces during the Vietnam War, the livelihood of the victims, and the role of the nation's social policy on the livelihood of the victims. In addition, this research program was based on two analytical works. First, it was based on an analysis of Vietnamese government documents to determine the content and transformation of social policy concerning victims of Agent Orange. Second, it was based on field research at one village in the Cam Lo District, Quang Tri Province, to obtain micro-level data, with the purpose of clarifying the nature of the livelihoods of the victims of Agent Orange and the role of social policy in it. Through the first of the activities, it was discovered that variations and the volume of social policy had been increasing since its first implementation at the national level in 2000. In particular, the amount of supplementary benefits (tro cap) increased dramatically. Through the second activity, it was discovered that not only for the victims but also for their families, supplementary benefits given by the Vietnamese government played a significant role in the maintenance of livelihood. In addition, the main actors supporting the victims were "Family" and "State." The chief of numerous roles of the "Family" was to provide direct care for the victims. The "State" mainly played a role in providing supplementary benefits and medical support. However, there are many people who are still waiting for the support of the country. Problems of the third generation, former soldiers of the Saigon government, remain unresolved. However, several cases were discovered in which the Vietnamese government applied a policy for the disabled to those people who have been assumed to have been affected by Agent Orange. The result of this research project was published in the Ajia keizai vol.53, No.1.

Organizer: TERAMOTO Minoru

(18) Firm Organization, Non-regular Workers, and International Trade

One of the most striking facets of the Japanese and Korean labor market is the growing dependence on non-permanent workers. This paper reviews the important facts on the Japanese and Korean labor market's reliance on non-permanent workers. This project investigates the structure of the employment relationships in businesses in a globalizing economy, taking into account the fact that only firms with superior characteristics are engaged in international activity, such as exports, FDI, and global outsourcing. Firms in major Asian economies including Japan and Korea have come to use non-regular employees aggressively in recent years. The project aims at determining policy implications for labor policy as well as trade policy for these economies. We statistically test predictions derived from the framework using publicized data regarding Japan and Korea. For this purpose, Nonpermanent Jobs and Globalization: An Overview by Tomohiro Machikita and Hitoshi Sato attempts to develop a theoretical framework in which firms choose the extent to which they use non-regular employees along with regular employees in an open economy. Due to the limitation of data in this paper, we also show case studies on a cross-country basis in order to supplement statistical analysis.

In addition, we use a simple model that highlights the role of the expected firing cost of permanent workers to propose three possible channels through which economic globalization may influence the relative demand of firms for non-permanent workers: tighter competition in product markets, increasing opportunities in foreign direct investment or foreign outsourcing, and global R&D competition. Two of the three channels are empirically tested in *Non-permanent Jobs* and Globalization: Evidence from Japan by Tomohiro Machikita and Hitoshi Sato. We use the framework to examine the impact of various economic changes, such as a reduction in trade costs and the economic development of emerging economies. We also describe the recent shift from permanent to non-permanent in South Korea. The case of South Korea is particularly important in that the shift in the labor force began accelerating rapidly in the mid-1990s, approximately at the same time as in Japan. *What Explains Changes in the Prevalence of Non-regular Employment in South Korea?* by Yuichi Takayasu shows that company and industry-level sales volatility is the main determinant of a rapid shift from permanent to non-permanent workers.

Organizer: SATO Hitoshi (RIETI)

Co-researchers: MACHIKITA Tomohiro, TAKAYA-SU Yuichi (Associate Professor, Daito Bunka University)

(19) Governance Problems in Public Financial Management in Developing Economies

The purpose of this research project is to identify problems associated with fiscal governance in developing economies, and to show how we might cope with such problems. During the second year of the two-year project period, research team members worked to prepare a final report, which includes policy proposals, based on the literature surveys and interviews with experts carried out in the previous year. Performing an empirical analysis from the view point of "tax effort," Prof. Hanai confirmed that poor tax effort is the result of poor performances not only in economic activities, but also in tax administration and formation of an efficient tax system. Reviewing patterns of debt problems and the development of research on public debt management, Kashiwabara studied the institutional limitations or governance-related problems a developing country may face during the control of public debt. As a part of searching for improvement of efficiency in the support systems for developing countries, Prof. Kohama studied problems in the decision-making mechanism, which is equivalent to "governance," of international aid agencies. Making a comprehensive survey of the definitions of "governance" and availabilities of the governance-related indices by international aid agencies, Prof. Kondo identified what "fiscal governance" is. Nogami explored the importance of "accountability"

to achieve an efficient fiscal system. Building a theoretical model, which includes endogenous change of the level of fiscal governance, Oyamada studied the effects of fiscal reform on the transitional path of the macroeconomy. Finally, Prof. Someya prepared solutions to the problems in pension system reforms in developing economies, considering the proposals made by the World Bank to fit to various purposes and risks in the reform process.

Organizer: OYAMADA Kazuhiko

Co-researchers: HANAI Kiyohito (Professor, Faculty of Economics, Seijo University), KASHIWABARA Chie, KOHAMA Hirohisa (Professor of Economics, Faculty of International Relations, University of Shizuoka), KONDO Masanori (Senior Associate Professor of Economics, College of Liberal Arts, International Christian University), NOGAMI Hiroki, SOMEYA Masakazu (Associate Professor, Faculty of Economics, Chiba Keizai University)

(20) The Changing Legislative Process in Thailand

This two-year study analyzed the legislative process in Thailand, focusing on institutional reform since the 1990s and its consequences. The research team consists of five researchers of Thai studies in the fields of law, political science, and sociology. The study covered parliamentary reform (Imaizumi), reform of the governmental bill draft process (Iida), as well as enhanced parliamentary and judicial control of the treaty-making process under the 2007 Constitution (Aoki). The study revealed that the emphasis on the people's political participation under the political reform movement since the 1990s has been reflected in the series of institutional reforms. The most prominent institutional change is the direct initiative which was introduced by the 1997 Constitution, which requires no fewer than fifty thousand voters to propose a bill directly to the parliament. The 2007 Constitution reinforced this type of people's participation by reducing the required number of voters to ten thousand. The study also contains two case studies of the process of particular legislation relating to consumer protection (Nishizawa) and the empowerment of disabled persons (Yoshimura). These case studies examine what factors enabled such legislation, as well as how the advocates for such legislation utilized the legislative process. The study also considered the role of the interim parliaments that were frequently formed after a military coup and consisted of appointed members. It reveals that although an interim parliament is in operation for a relatively short period of time after a coup, it played a rather important role in law-making in Thailand. The statistics show that the volume of legislation increases under an interim parliament, because it is less likely for government bills to face strong protests.

Organizer: IMAIZUMI Shinya

Co-researchers: AOKI-OKABE Maki, IIDA Junzo (Professor, Faculty of Law, Soka University), NISHIZAWA Kikuo (Associate Professor, Kochi Junior College), YOSHIMURA Chie (Graduate School of Asian and African Area Studies, Kyoto University)

(21) Global Recession and Economic Policies in Developing Countries

The global recession, triggered by "Lehman Shock" in late 2008, had a grave impact on the economies of developing countries. However, the magnitude of the impact differs between countries. Those who suffered most are the countries in middle and eastern Europe and CIS countries. Although some Asian countries also suffered a decline in exports, many of them have been successful in containing the damage.

On the other hand, some people blame excess savings in East Asia for the bubble in the U.S. real estate market, and consequently the occurrence of the subprime loan problem and Lehman Shock. According their view, excess saving in these countries provided excess liquidity to the U.S. market by way of an inflow of net capital from those countries to the U.S. Such a story is convenient for American policymakers, but should be investigated critically.

We study the impact of global recession on developing countries and evaluate their policy responses. In addition, we analyze the policy of accumulating foreign reserves in developing countries, the background of the policy, and its economic consequences.

The project includes case studies as well as overall analyses. The countries/areas we focus on are Indonesia, the Philippines, Thailand, China, India, and Latvia (plus one or two emerging European countries).

Organizer: KUNIMUNE Kozo Co-researchers: INOUE Takeshi, KASHIWABARA Chie, NGUYEN Quoc Hung, SATO Hitoshi (Research Institute of Economy, Trade & Industry), SHIMANE Yoshie (Associate Professor, Ryukoku University), KOHSAKA Akira (Professor, Kwansei Gakuin University), KOMATSU Masaaki (Professor, Hiroshima University Graduate School for International Development and Cooperation), MATSUZAWA Yuusuke (lecturer, Bunri University of Hospitality Faculty of Service Management), SONE Yasuo (Associate Professor, Nihon University College of Economics), MIENO Fumiharu (Professor, Graduate School of International Cooperation Studies, Kobe University), INOGUCHI Masahiro (Associate Professor, Kyoto Sangyo University)

(22) Employment of Persons with Disabilities in Developing Countries

Issues related to disability are a critical part of poverty reduction, and employment of persons with disabilities is one of the core issues. Labor and employment are important not only for securing subsistence income, but also for establishing basic human rights, e.g. the right to work and the principle of non-discrimination supported by equal opportunity and reasonable accommodation. The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) also recognizes the right of persons with disabilities to work on an equal basis with others. The objective of this research project is to focus on the equalization of opportunities and promotion of employment of persons with disabilities through legislation, and reveal the roles of and problems facing the current labor and employment laws in developing countries. This research project researched and analyzed (1) the employment law system related to persons with disabilities, including laws, rules, and guidelines, (2) the actual employment situation of persons with disabilities based on the employment law system, and (3) cases of litigation and complaints regarding employment of persons with disabilities in each country, to examine the feasibility of the rights established in CRPD, such as the right to work and non-discrimination. In addition, the project collected and analyzed good practice cases in target countries to provide suggestions for an effective employment law system related to persons with disabilities.

This project mainly focuses on general employment in the open labor market. However, through this year's discussion, promotion of sheltered employment and development of self-employment were reaffirmed as being critically important in developing countries. Accordingly, these will be examined next year in relation to general employment if needed in the target countries. Additionally, several issues which were discovered, such as the double count problem in the quota system, employment in the public sector, and evaluation of special subsidiaries for persons with disabilities, will also be discussed.

Organizer: KOBAYASHI Masayuki

Co-researchers: MORI Soya, ASANO Noriyuki (Associate Professor, Osaka Ohtani University), KA-WASHIMA Satoshi (Project Researcher, the University of Tokyo), SAI Takanori (DPI-Japan), NISHIZAWA Kikuo (Associate Professor, Kochi Junior College), SAITO Yoshihisa (Associate Professor, Kobe University)

(23) Productivity of the Corporations in China's Electrical and Electronics Industries: A Relation between Foreign and Local Corporations

Does foreign direct investment (FDI) in developing countries affect the growth of local firms in the host countries? We investigated whether FDI has a positive or negative effect, using a dataset on China's electrical and electronics industries at the corporate-level. Our results showed that FDI is likely to have a negative effect on growth for firms in sectors with large disparities in technology and less experience in business. The main points of our study are summarized below.

First, we discussed how characteristics of different sectors affect productivity. We found that every sector in the electrical and electronics industry faces technological disparities, which vary in size from small to large. To understand this factor, we compared it to the ratio of sales by foreign firms to total sales in the sector. Although this relationship requires more rigorous analysis, it seems reasonable to say that the business experience of local firms correlates to technological disparities in the sector as a whole.

Next, we conducted a regression analysis to determine the effects of FDI on the growth of local firms. This analysis found that FDI has different effects in each sector. As shown in the first half of Table 6, the coefficients of cross terms are different.

Finally, we compared our findings on technologi-

cal disparities and sales by foreign firms with findings in the regression model and found that there seems to be a relationship between the negative effects of FDI and technological disparities. Sectors with large technological disparities tend to suffer greater negative effects. Moreover, based on the relationship between technological disparities and business experiences, it seems possible to say that sectors with lower levels of experience tend to suffer negative effects.

Organizer: KIMURA Koichiro

(24) Economic Policies and Economic Structures of Transition Economies in Southeast Asia: A Comparative Study of Myanmar and Vietnam

It has become a prevalent view that good institutions are indispensable for economic growth. With regard to the recent economic performance of Myanmar and Vietnam, this research project addresses two related questions: to what extent institutions account for their contrasting economic performances, and why the paths of institutional development diverged so much between the two countries. While there is a large gap in economic performances between the two countries, their initial economic conditions were similar to each other when they launched economic reforms and integration into the international market in the late 1980s. By comparing the financial systems, the agricultural sectors, and the industrial sectors of each country, this project studies the impacts of economic institutions on economic performance and the dynamics of institutional development or stagnation.

In the first year of the two-year project, following points are clarified. First, while both countries began economic reforms in the midst of a standstill of economic controls, the extent of deregulation and penetration of the market mechanism, and the degree of liberalization of the economy, differed substantially. Such differences in the direction of reform might be related to the subsequent contrasting paths of institutional development in the two countries. Second, determinants of performance in export industries under international competition include not only domestic factors such as institutions, but also exogenous foreign factors.

Following such clarification in the first year, this study project in 2011 will investigate what factors account for changes or stagnation of institutions in the two countries. It aims to contribute to the literature on institutions and economic growth by offering an anecdotal account regarding Myanmar and Vietnam.

Organizer: KUBO Koji

Co-researchers: FUJITA Mai, KUDO Toshihiro, TSUKADA Kazunari, WATANABE Shin'ichi (Professor, International University of Japan), GOTO Kenta (Ass. Professor, Kansai University)

(25) The Korean Technology Network with Japan

The purpose of this study is to clarify the causes of the South Korean trade deficit with Japan which has been a issue of negotiation for many years, and to contribute to the formulation of a solution.

The South Korean government has insisted that the South Korean trade deficit with Japan occurred because South Korea was required to import Japanese "parts and materials," the production of which is an area of technological weakness for small and mediumsized South Korean companies. The South Korean government insists that if Japanese small and mediumsized companies producing such "parts and materials" would invest in South Korea, the issue would be solved.

Accordingly, the research team began to analyze what commodities cause the trade deficit with Japan. The team concluded that the main products causing the trade deficit are capital goods and industrial supplies. These commodities are not products made by small and medium-sized companies, but rather products produced by large companies in Japan.

On the other hand, the basic reason for the South Korean trade deficit is found in the business model which South Korea selected: rapid economic growth including building of a technology network with Japan, and importing of technologies, industrial supplies, and capital goods since the diplomatic normalization of Japan-South Korea relations. The trade deficit with Japan is a kind of value for the enjoyment of profit of the late departure.

The study team took up semiconductors, LCD panels, and mobile phones to demonstrate "the technical network with Japan" in the background of the trade deficit.

As a result, the imported items and trends in the amount of money imported from Japan showed the ne-

Organizer: MIZUNO Junko

Co-researchers: ITO Yoshimi (Emeritus professor, Tokyo Institute of Technology), FUJITA Toru (Senior Analyst, Sumitomo Shoji Research Institute, Inc.), MI-TARAI Hisami (Senior Staff, Nomura Research Institute), ABE Makoto, HAYAKAWA Kazunobu, JUN Je-Goo (Visiting Research Fellow, IDE-JETRO)

(26) Pacific Island Nations under Globalization

According to Marxist historian Eric Hobsbaum, the capitalist system oscillates between the open market phase ("the age of capital") and the closed market phase ("the age of empire"). In 20 years of the open market phase beginning with the collapse of the Berlin Wall in 1989, the GDP of the world economy tripled, world trade increased five-fold, and financial assets ballooned 3,000%. This process is called "globalization."

However, globalization died suddenly on September 15, 2008, with the occurrence of "Lehman Shock." The G20 coordinated fiscal expenditure of 6 trillion dollars and put off the sudden death. As a result, the enormous debt of private financial companies was transferred to the debt of governments all over the world, thereby engendering sovereign risks. Now, such sovereign risks threaten default by European countries and collapse of the Euro.

Currently, the governments of the world are advancing block economy policy, reducing the exchange rate, and dumping and enclosing resources.

Pacific island nations were excluded from the process of globalization, but now, in the new "age of empire," the increased prices of resources and technological advancement for the exploitation of seabed mines, oil fields, gas fields, and rare earth have turned the 200-mile exclusive economic zones of the islands into rich economic resource zones.

Economic empires have now begun to take notice of the Pacific island nations. Accordingly, the Pacific island countries, on their part, have begun to employ diplomatic tactics. Ironically, after the demise of globalization, the Pacific island nations are entering their own global geopolitical stage.

Organizer: SHIOTA Mitsuki

Co-researchers: KAZAMA Kazuhiro (Associate Professor, Graduate School of Humanities and Social Sciences, University of Tsukuba), BABA Jun (Research Fellow, The Japan Society for the Promotion of Science / Tokyo University of Foreign Studies), ISHIMORI Daichi (Junior Fellow, Research Institute for Languages and Cultures of Asia and Africa, Tokyo University of Foreign Studies), TANAHASHI Satoshi (Professor, Ochanomizu University), KUROSAKI Takehiro (Oceania Division, Asian and Oceanian Affairs Bureau, Ministry of Foreign Affairs), ICHIKAWA Tetsu (Program Coordinator, Rikkyo University), NIWA Norio (Assistant Professor, Center for Research Development, National Museum of Ethnology)

(27) Comparative Studies on Governance of Local Governments in Southeast Asia

Since the 1990s, as part of the state restructuring scheme for democratization or for political stability, many countries in Southeast Asia have established more decentralized local administration systems. Many of the administration services are now delivered by local governments. And some new welfare services for residents, such as nursing care insurance and social insurance services, are often under responsibility of local administrative organizations. However, the substantial characteristics of service delivery systems under the decentralization schemes in each country seem to be very different according to the central-local relationship and types of decentralization.

For the final output in our two-year research project, the research team focused on the notions of "government" and "governance" in the field of public administration. By using "government," our team describes the service system mostly using the resources and rules of either the central or local governments. In applying the notion of "government," we can make an analysis on the theme of the relationship between the central and local governments ("the central-local government relations) as well as on the penetration of rules and laws in local governments ("government rules"). On the other hand, by using "governance," we can focus on new service delivery systems other than "government," meaning that multiple actors such as private sectors, NGOs, and residential groups also participate in the decision-making, delivery, and enforcement of the administrative services with the government. By using these two notions and a mixture of these, our team made a comparison of the local administrative system in each country of Southeast Asia. Each chapter describes the characteristics, changes before and after the decentralization, and challenges for local governments in the era of decentralization.

Organizer: NAGAI Fumio (Professor, Osaka City University)

Co-researchers: AKIZUKI Kengo (Professor, Kyoto University), NISHIMURA Kenichi (Associate Professor, Osaka University), OKAMOTO Masaaki (Associate Professor, Kyoto University), SAKUMA Miho (Researcher, International Development Center of Japan), KAWANO Motoko (Fellow, National Graduate Institute for Policy Studies), SHIMAGAMI Motoko (Researcher, Kyoto University), FUNATSU Tsuruyo

(28) Comprehensive Study on Taiwan III: Centripetal and Centrifugal Force in Taiwanese Society

Taiwan is a small country compared to Japan. It comprises an area slightly smaller than Kyushu and has a population of 23 million, less than one fifth of Japan's population. Internally, however, Taiwan entails a multi-layered ethnic social structure, and externally, it has a very complicated and peculiar relation with China. Furthermore, these internal and external factors often interact with each other. As a consequence, the answers to questions such as what Taiwanese society is and whether Taiwanese society will be sustainable in the future are not obvious. Since Taiwan's future will have a significant impact on the whole of East Asia, including Japan, neighboring countries need to observe its social dynamics.

Our project examined the direction in which this intricate society is moving today. In particular, we attempted to determine whether Taiwanese society is becoming more coherent or more divergent. We reached the following three conclusions. First, although Taiwanese society evidently has ethnic cleavages, they are not so serious that they can dismantle the society. It is the premise of each ethnic group's behavior that Taiwan is its only stage. Second, "China" continues to be a threat to Taiwanese society. The society has almost completed its embrace of the "China" which Kuomintang brought in and oppressed before democratization. But under growing economic relations, some Taiwanese have begun to settle down on the mainland and to feel an identity with "China." Although the number is very limited now, the impact on society may be increasing bit by bit. Third, Taiwanese society also has a capacity to intensify its coherency, such as with active social movements. They have contributed to constructing innovative institutions as well as to consolidating a young democracy.

We are planning to publish the results of our research in FY2011.

Organizer: SATO Yukihito

Co-researchers: TERAO Tadayoshi, NUMAZAKI Ichiro (Professor, Tohoku University), WU Rwei-ren (Assistant Research Fellow, Institute of Taiwan History, Academia Sinica), Kaku SECHIYAMA (Professor, University of Tokyo), MATSUKANE Kimimasa (Associate Professor, Utsunomiya University), KA-MIZURU Hisahiko (Assistant Professor, Prefectural University of Hiroshima), ISHIGAKI Naoki (Lecturer, Okinawa International University), TANOUE Tomoyoshi (doctoral course student, University of Tokyo), KAWAKAMI Momoko, IKEGAMI Hiroshi

(29) Elimination of Child Labor in a Multiactor Approach

Child labor is one of the most important development issues facing the world, and it demands immediate attention. The urgency has grown in the wake of the world economic crisis, which impeded the elimination of child labor. This is why the international community must make efforts toward this goal.

Japan, which depends heavily on imports from developing countries, is far behind the conventions adopted by developed countries to minimize the risks of victimizing children in developing countries. It lacks the laws and regulations to deny imports produced through child labor. The eradication of child labor is yet to enter the mainstream for Japanese ODA.

In the meantime, awareness of this issue among Japanese citizens is gradually rising as interest in other social issues, including the environment and fair trade, grows. Japanese corporations have also started to embrace corporate social responsibility and adopt codes to restrict products made with child labor. Thus, now is the best time for various actors in Japan, i.e., the government, citizens, and businesses, to work together to contribute to the eradication of child labor in the world. This research project invites key members of the above-mentioned actor groups to contribute to a book on Japan's ideal approaches toward child labor eradication. The project focuses on how seemingly independent actors in Japan should be integrated and which approaches should be taken by each actor.

In the end of the first fiscal year, a PDF version of the interim report (in Japanese) was published. The contents of the interim report will be refined and augmented for the final output to be published towards the middle of 2012.

Organizer: YAMAGATA Tatsufumi

Co-researchers: NAKAMURA Mari, KAIDA Machiko (Japan International Center for the Rights of the Child), SHIROKI Tomoko (Action against Child Exploitation), HORIUCHI Mitsuko (Bunkyo Gakuin University), IRIGAKI Hidetoshi (Japan International Cooperation Agency), KITAZAWA Koh (Fair Trade Resource Center), FUJINO Atsuko (Kyoto Sangyo University)

(30) International Comparison of Environmental Policy Development from Historical Viewpoint

In order to implement environment policy efficiently in developing countries, it is possible to refer to the experience of advanced nations, but in many cases, direct transfer of a policy and an institution is not necessarily easy. The nature of the developing process of the environment policies of East Asian countries can be clarified through comparison with the historical developmental process of developed countries. In addition, we will attempt to create an analytical framework for the comparative study of an environmental problem and policy. Moreover, we aim to clarify the subject of the system formation for the share in question with advanced nations and a developing country regarding policy concerns, with indispensable international cooperation, such as global warming problems.

Organizer: TERAO Tadayoshi

Co-researchers: FUNATSU Tsuruyo, OTUKA Kenji, KITAGAWA Susumu (Assistant Professor, University of Yamanashi), OIKAWA Hiroki (Associate Professor, Yokohama National University)

(31) Economic Integration and Recycling in Asia

Economic integration in Asia has also expanded the trade of recyclable waste. Japan, Korea, and other countries that export recyclable waste and which have established domestic recycling systems, face a shortage of recyclable waste due to an increase in exports of recyclable waste. On the other hand, importing countries face problems of pollution from the recycling process, as well as imported scrap contaminated with hazardous waste. This study group investigates international trade of recyclable waste and the regulations on importing and exporting. Based on an understanding of the current situation, the study group clarifies issues related to recycling and international trade of recyclable waste within the Asian region, and makes policy recommendations.

Organizer: KOJIMA Michikazu

Co-researchers: MICHIDA Etsuyo, TERAO Tadayoshi, SAKATA Shozo, Vella Atienza,

YOSHIDA Aya, Researcher, National Institute for Environmental Studies

MURAKAMI (SUZUKI) Rie Researcher, National Institute for Environmental Studies

SASAKI So, Senior Analyst, Mitsubishi UFJ research and Consulting Co., Ltd

TSURUTA Jun, Associate Professor, Japan Coast Guard Academy

(32) Trade and Environment: For Sustainable Development of Developing Countries

In recent years, two factors have complicated discussions on trade and the environment. One is the addition of the concept of sustainable development, and the concern is that some national laws regarding environmental protection in developed countries impede the economic development of developing countries. The other is the proliferation of bilateral FTAs/EPAs as a means to promote free trade. Some FTAs, which have their own various environmental provisions, force countries to face complex situations in which they must manage several environmental commitments at the same time.

Under these circumstances, the trade-environment discourse has entered a new phase. Considerable attention is given to the design of regimes which can achieve sustainable development in developing countries while adjusting promotion of free trade and environmental protection. Due to the variety of research fields and approaches to the trade-environment interface, it is necessary to determine how and on what one should conduct the examination as the first step for future substantive and intensive research. In order to establish the points for argument, this study started by exploring the policies and existing institutions to delineate the problems that developing countries are faced with. We examined a wide range of trade-environment issues such as (i) forest products trade and sustainable forest management, (ii) environmental regulation and its impact on the electric industry, (iii) development issues in global warming, (iv) the impact of biofuel policies on trade and the environment, (v) the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities in multilateral environmental agreements, and (vi) environmental issues in WTO negotiations.

The results of this study led to a new research project conducted in 2011-12 that will discuss the benefits and drawbacks of policies and measures regarding trade-environment issues from a developing country's perspective.

Organizer: YANAI Akiko

Co-researchers: MICHIDA Etsuyo, KOJIMA Michikazu

(33) Reform of Local Governance for Environmental Conservation and Restoration in River and Lake Basins, China

In China, issues of water pollution in river and lake basins are still serious although the government has implemented many measures, such as control of the total pollution load, in a series of five-year plans in major basins. In the Lake Tai ("Tai-Hu" in Chinese) Basin, one of the typical basins combating water pollution in China, a series of new initiatives for environmental conservation and restoration have continued since the water crisis that occurred in 2007. This research project focuses not only on industrial point source control, but also on urban and rural non-point source control of wastewater effluents and other environmental restoration measurements in basins for the purpose of exploring methods of reforming local governance related to environmental conservation and restoration in the Lake Tai Basin, based on on-going policy reform including

a social experiment of dialogue between stakeholders in the basin. Through this research project, we would like to contribute to building effective governance for environmental conservation and restoration to achieve environmental and social sustainability in river and lake basins in China. During this fiscal year, we have published not only a Japanese report which compiles research papers written by members via the IDE website, but also "Stakeholder Involvement in Water Environment Conservation in China and Japan: Building Effective Governance in the Tai Lake Basin" as IDE Joint Research Program Series No. 155, based on a joint research project with the Center for Environmental Management and Policy (CEMP), Nanjing University (China). In December, we held an international workshop on "Building New Clean Water Networks in China" in JETRO Tokyo with the China Environment Forum (CEF) at the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars (Washington D.C.) and CEMP, funded by the Japan Foundation's Center for Global Partnership.

Organizer: OTSUKA Kenji

Co-researchers: ISONO Yayoi (Professor of Tokyo Keizai University), MIZUOCHI Motoyuki (Senior Research Fellow of National Institute for Environmental Studies), FUJITA Kaori (Professor of Kinki University), YAMADA Nanae

(34) Skill Formation Systems, Skill Distribution, and Comparative Advantage: A Comparison of China and India

In recent years, China and India have achieved rapid industrial development and substantial economic growth, and their presence in the global economy has expanded. However, the two countries differ substantially in their industrial development processes. Based on GDP and export data, it seems that China has a comparative advantage in manufacturing while India has one in services, such as the software industry. Thus, this research has empirically examined the different comparative advantages of two emerging economic giants, China and India, in relation to the different skill distribution patterns in each country. By utilizing industry export data on China and India from 1983 to 2000, we have found that a country with a greater dispersion of skills (i.e., India, especially in the earlier years) has higher exports in industries with shorter production chains, whereas a country with a more equal dispersion of skills (i.e., China, especially in the later years) is found to have higher exports in industries with longer production chains. Production chains generally tend to be longer in manufacturing industries than in agricultural, mining, and service industries. Consequently, our empirical results indicate that the difference in skill distribution between China and India has influenced the patterns of their comparative advantages. This empirical evidence supports our assumption that the likely mechanism for these results is the negative impact of low-skilled workers on input quality, which accumulates and becomes larger as the length of production chains and the proportion of lowskilled workers in the economy increase.

Organizer: ASUYAMA Yoko

(35) Legal Analysis of Anti Human Trafficking Framework in the Great Mekong Sub-region

In the Great Mekong Sub-region, in particular where the North-South and East-West Corridors have developed to facilitate infrastructural economic growth, the prevention and suppression of human trafficking are extremely important to sound economic and social development. By comparative analysis of COMMIT (Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation against Trafficking in Persons in the Greater Mekong Sub-Region), a multilateral agreement in the region, and 3 bilateral legal instruments, namely Memorandum of Understanding between Thailand and Cambodia, Thailand and Laos, and Thailand and Myanmar, this research clarified the effectiveness and shortcomings of the current legal framework against human trafficking in the region. The analysis focused on comparisons of rights and obligations of the countries of origin and destination for victims of human trafficking, and implementation of those provisions, such as the legal status of victims under domestic laws, victims as witnesses in criminal proceedings, victimprotection programs, restitution, repatriation, and mutual cooperation between legal officers. The main findings are, first, that there is a prejudice against foreign victims by legal officers under domestic laws before it becomes a bilateral issue; second, that victim's hold conflicting interests between appearance at a public hearing as a witness and an earlier return to his or her home country; third, that there is difficulty in the vic-

tim's exercise of rights to seek damages from offenders; fourth, there is the issue of obtaining the sending country's non-interference in identification of victims by the receiving country, and the receiving country's non-interference in follow-up on returnees in the home country; and fifth, that there is a mismatch of expertise in bilateral cooperation between different ministries. Among the three MoUs, the one between Thailand and Myanmar established in 2009 has the most comprehensive and elaborated provisions, reflecting the 2008 Anti-human Trafficking Law in Thailand, and exemplifies the effectiveness of the COMMIT framework. The remaining research issue is how China concludes bilateral instruments with other countries in the region, as the China factor becomes more influential in human trafficking issues in the Great Mekong Sub-region.

Organizer: YAMADA Miwa

<Funded Research>

(1) Impact Evaluation of Pasak River Irrigation System

We evaluate the impact of the Pasak River Irrigation Scheme in Thailand at the household level using a difference-in-differences estimator. We have conducted a series of household surveys to construct a panel of data. Difficulties in evaluating infrastructural projects are well known, and this will be a unique contribution to policymakers. The study has been commissioned study by the Japan International Cooperation Agency.

Organizer: ITO Seiro (Director, Development Strategies Study Group, Development Studies Center) Co-researchers: OHIRA Satoshi (Associate Professor, Faculty of Economics, Keio University), TSUKADA Kazunari (Macroeconomic Study Group, Development Studies Center)

(2) Impact Evaluation on Small scale Irrigation Management Project (Indonesia)

This research aims to evaluate the impact of the Smallscale Irrigation Scheme, initially funded by the Japan Bank International Cooperation (which merged with JICA in 2009). The study site is the Kelara Karalloe irrigation scheme (KK) in Indonesia. The target households consist of (1) 390 rice-growing farmers around KK, including 210 irrigation beneficiaries (30 upstream; 60 midstream; 120 downstream) and 180 non-beneficiaries, as well as (2) around 400 irrigation beneficiaries living near the boundary at which crop choice changes sharply from paddy to palawija in the dry season due to different water accessibility.

Based on the first data set, we estimated how rice yield in the rainy season is different within irrigation streams as well as between irrigation beneficiaries and non-beneficiaries. We found that the irrigation scheme does have greater impact on upper and middle stream plots relative to other plots due to better water accessibility and manageability. By contrast, it does not have any statistically significant yield impact on downstream plots compared with non-irrigated areas.

In addition, using the second data set, we estimated how crop income in the dry season is different between paddy and palawija-growing farmers, based on the concept of regression discontinuity design. Surprisingly, we found that the average income of paddy farmers is not necessarily greater than with palawija, which requires less water and which farmers prefer to cultivate less than paddies. The likely reason is that the marginal (in terms of water availability) paddy plots are riskier, more vulnerable, and could be less profitable than neighboring palawija plots. The detail of these findings are reported in *Impact Evaluation Report on Small Scale Irrigation Management Project* (*Indonesia*), Tokyo: JICA.

Organizer: TAKAHASHI Kazushi Co-researchers: ITO Seiro

(3) Food Industry Development and Trade of Processed Food Products in Asia

This ongoing study aims to investigate the determinants of trade patterns of processed food products in Asia. We focus in particular on the role of growth strategies of export firms. First, as a case study, we conducted interviews with a number of managers in frozen-seafood processing firms in Thailand. Most firms we surveyed have concentrated on foreign markets, rather than the domestic market, since their foundation. Both quantitative and qualitative information suggest that the firm's effort to upgrade its quality management system is an important prerequisite to success in expanding foreign sales. Although these

firms pursue further quality upgrades, they have recently suffered from increased domestic wage levels as the country develops, reducing the comparative advantage of this labor-intensive industry. Second, we empirically estimated the average product quality of processed food exported by Asian countries for each HS 6-digit category. Based on the standard heterogeneous firm models, we derive the key equation that enables us to calculate the average product quality using detailed bilateral trade data. We find large disparities in the level of product quality between countries. In general, rich countries in terms of per capita GDP export high-quality products to the rest of the world. China, a rapidly growing exporter of processed food products, is characterized by the relatively low quality levels and therefore, at the current stage, low labor costs are considered to be a main source of international competitiveness of this country. On the other hand, some ASEAN countries show higher levels of average product quality and they rank between China and Japan.

Organizer: OKAMOTO Ikuko Co-researchers: TSUKADA Kazunari

<Projects funded by Grants-in Aid for Scientific Research>

(1) Technology Diffusion of the System of Rice Intensification and Its Economic Impacts on Household Welfare: The Case of Rural Indonesia

This research aims to identify the determinants of the adoption of a newly-introduced rice-growing technology called the System of Rice Intensification (SRI), and its economic impact on household welfare, in rural Indonesia.

As a first step toward that goal, I conducted propensity score matching (PSM) analysis this year, which allowed me to examine the determinants and impact in a relatively rigorous and integrated manner. Outcome variables include not only paddy yield and rice income, but also total household income, which is largely ignored in the existing literature.

Admittedly, however, a major drawback of PSM in estimation is that it assumes that the decision to adopt the technology is determined purely by observable factors, which will not reflect the reality. To overcome
this shortcoming inherent in PSM, I explicitly incorporated several important, but generally unobservable factors, such as risk preference and social networks, into regressors. To do so, I conducted a simple experimental game on risk preference and constructed network variables from the survey instruments.

Based on this specification, I found that better water and labor availability, having technology advisors who have experience in adopting SRI, and risk-lovingness are among the key contributors to adoption of SRI. Controlling for such individual heterogeneity, SRI generates yield gains of about 40% to 60% on average. However, due presumably to the increased use of family labor on the farm, I found some evidence that SRI lowers household off-farm income. Net welfare gains are statistically insignificant and the result is robust.

Organizer: TAKAHASHI Kazushi

(2) Analysis of Poverty Reduction Policies in India Using Field Experiments

To understand the impediments to affordable medical insurance for the poor in India, we have conducted field experiments that aim to isolate moral hazards from adverse selection. This year, we conducted a follow-up survey to the experiment. We have also supported creation of a rural medical database with our partner organization and collected baseline medical data.

Organizer: ITO Seiro (Director, Development Strategies Study Group, Development Studies Center) **Co-researchers:** KONO Hisaki (Overseas Research Fellow, Cambridge, MA, USA)

(3) The Basic Studies on Chinese Businessmen in Myanmar

This project aims to study Chinese society and Chinese entrepreneurs in Myanmar. In FY2010, the final year of the project, I had two agendas. The first was to publish the research results. Some of the research results had already been published in my book, *Gunsei Biruma no Kenryoku Kozo*, in 2009. I gave a presentation about the project at the "2010 International Burma Studies Conference" in France in June, 2010. The presentation received many useful comments from international scholars. The second agenda was preparation for an archive of documents related to Myanmar Chinese history. I hired two research assistants who were fluent in Chinese, and drew up a document list and a chronological table based on 陳孝奇's book. Additionally, PDF files were made from original documents collected from the "Chinese Library" (華僑図書館) in Yangon. I hope that these documents will be open to public sometime in FY2011.

Organizer: NAKANISHI Yoshihiro

(4) The Assembler-Supplier Relationship and the Growth of Local Suppliers in the Vietnamese Motorcycle Industry

This research focuses on the Vietnamese motorcycle industry, in which the competition between subsidiaries of Japanese motorcycle manufacturers and local Vietnamese motorcycle assemblers that initially assembled Chinese imported components brought about enormous industrial dynamism. This research aims to analyze how the changing assembler-supplier relationship in this industry affected the local component suppliers' capability building trajectories during the decade beginning in the late 1990s.

The final year of this three-year project focused on analyzing the transformation of the assembler-supplier relationships between Japanese motorcycle manufacturers and Vietnamese motorcycle assemblers. The key findings of the analysis are as follows. (1) Assemblersupplier relationships in this industry were transformed primarily as a result of adaptation and competition between two distinct models of industrial organization transplanted from abroad: the Japanese model, which is characterized by long-term and close relationships between the motorcycle manufacturer and a limited number of suppliers, and the Chinese model, which is based on intense competition between many motorcycle manufacturers and suppliers engaging in on-thespot transactions. (2) Japanese motorcycle manufacturers adapted their original model to the new market and policy environment, while making active attempts to create the conditions necessary for the effective functioning of the adapted model, such as launching lowpriced products and nurturing supplier capabilities. By contrast, the transformation of the Chinese organizational model, which was inherited by Vietnamese motorcycle assemblers, is explained primarily by the assemblers' mobilization of the incidental emergence of new supplier capabilities.

Organizer: FUJITA Mai

(5) Local Firm's Learning through Foreign Direct Investment in sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of Garment Industry in Madagascar

In its role to lead economic growth and poverty alleviation, the expectation for growth of the manufacturing sector has been increasing recently in sub-Saharan Africa. Among poor African countries, the most significant growth has been seen in the garment industry, but growth is mostly attributed to foreign firms. Since local firms have learned through foreign direct investment (FDI) in many developing countries, investigation of the learning process will reveal obstacles to growth of African firms. This research project investigates the Malagasy garment industry, which has a 20year history of export-oriented FDI.

FY2010 was the second year of the 4-year project. Though in-depth interviews with local firms were scheduled, the research plan was changed due to an unexpected change in market access. Duty-free access to the U.S. market has been suspended since the beginning of 2010, as a result of the undemocratic regime change in Madagascar. This has caused a serious adverse impact on exports from Madagascar, resulting in a decrease in garment exports of nearly 60%. To understand the impact on local exporters, the survey of firms was conducted in 2010 as a follow-up to the 2009 survey.

With a smaller sample size, in-depth interviews were also conducted at 10 local firms and 3 foreign firms. They revealed that movement of workers and expatriates resulting from FDI played a critical role in participation in exporting by local firms, as seen in Asian countries. Subcontracting work by FDI firms also supported local exporters, which do not have business relationships with buyers in export markets. The survey of firms in 2009 suggested that local exporters were as productive as foreign firms on average and the results indicate effective learning by local firms.

In FY2011, a survey of firms will be conducted again and the impact of suspended preferential access will be examined.

Organizer: FUKUNISHI Takahiro

(6) International Migration of Nurses and its Impact on the Health System of the Sending Countries : Case Studies of the Philippines, South Africa, Ghana and Zimbabwe

From the late 1990s to the mid-2000s, international migration of nurses from developing countries to industrialized countries increased dramatically. One of the major destination countries was the UK, which had initiated a large-scale recruitment of foreign nurses in order to expand the workforce in its National Health Service (NHS). This study aims to describe the scale and general trend of nurse migration from four source countries (the Philippines, South Africa, Ghana, and Zimbabwe) to the UK as well as other destination countries in the past 20 years, and to examine the impact of rapid expansion of the international market for nurses on the health system of these four source countries.

In FY2010, I examined the Zimbabwean case study. The emigration of Zimbabwean nurses began in the early 1990s when the Zimbabwean economy experienced rapid decline under the Structural Adjustment Program. The exodus of nurses accelerated after 2000 due to the deepening political and economic crisis of the country. The major destination for Zimbabwean nurses varied from neighboring southern African countries such as South Africa and Botswana to the UK, Australia, and New Zealand. Contrary to South Africa and Ghana, the emigration of Zimbabwean nurses continued after the large-scale recruitment of foreign nurses by NHS hospitals in the UK largely ceased around 2005. This was due to the continued domestic economic crisis in Zimbabwe, most notably the escalation of hyper-inflation. Following the formation of the Government of National Unity in February 2009, the Zimbabwean dollar was abolished and replaced by the multi-currency system. The introduction of the U.S. dollar stabilized the economy, and payment of salaries to public sector workers was resumed. However, the country is far from stable politically, and those who left the country during the crisis are yet to return.

Organizer: SATO Chizuko

(7) Qualitative Study about Social Mobility of Rural-Urban Migrants in Modern China

This project focuses on personal change in social posi-

tion. China today is in the process of urbanization and industrialization, and rural sector is decreasing in size and in the quantity of job opportunities. Accordingly, we take particular notice of migrants from rural China. Deregulation of the domestic labor market created a significant opportunity for the major category of ruralurban migrants called "Nongmingong." Although there was an increase in the number of job opportunities, the question of what kind of change in social position is being achieved remains. From this perspective, we conducted a number of studies as indicated below.

A series of interviews with migrant workers from rural areas was conducted in the coastal areas of Beijing and Shenzhen. The main findings from these interviews are, first, that in both types of migration, individuals are living a day-to-day existence, and second, there are, therefore, few factory workers that are willing to continue working in the position in the future. This displays a clear contrast with self-employed migrants who are, for the most part, willing to stay in urban areas. Further, both categories of migrants all hope to operate their own businesses someday in the future. This seems to be a result of the difficult situation faced by migrants.

Another study was conducted in several town and villages in rural Sichuan. The target area is now facing a significant change in its employment environment. The area sent most of its local laborers to outside regions in the 1980s, in particular to coastal areas such as Guangdong, which currently has a large number of industries and a significant demand for laborers today. Most of the laborers returning to their home regions are married women. In addition, we can observe a significant change in the location of employment for young laborers who are new graduates from local junior high schools. We argue that these changes actually show the difficulty of migration.

Organizer: Mami Yamaguchi

(8) Microcredit Field Experiments: Loan Maturity and Group Lending

A theoretical analysis shows that lending maturity changes a portfolio (the combination of borrowing from MFIs and from money lenders) and the decision to invest, that in group lending which utilizes existing social capital, negative shocks which occur with low probability can destroy the social capital, and that it

is impossible to achieve both "group lending utilizing social capital" and "group lending enhancing social capital." Empirical analysis using experimental data collected in Vietnam shows that, compared with individual lending, group lending tends to result in lower repayment rates, and that the distribution of investment return will affect the decision to repay, given the same expected return. Our experiment on microinsurance shows that providing opportunities to choose one of two insurances will achieve a higher uptake rate than selling only one insurance policy, and that the uncovered negative shock in the previous period increases the uptake rate in the current period, and that framing income distribution does not affect the decision for uptake. We also investigate the relationship between intra-household decision-making and present bias, given the recent literature showing that present bias has an important implication for savings and microcredit participation. Even though present-biased individuals can potentially delegate the consumption and financial decision-making to his/her time-consistent spouse, our results indicate that present-biased individuals turn over less income to their time-consistent spouses and are more likely to manage cash themselves. Further, time-consistent wives whose husbands are presentbiased are more likely to join ROSCA to protect the household budget.

Organizer: KONO Hisaki

(9) Job Search and Matching in Urban Labor Market: Networks in the Chinatown vs. Agglomeration

Labor markets in developing economies in turbulent times have undergone a significant transformation over the past three decades. Urban population has grown, while market size and job vacancy, as well as congestion, have also grown across countries. To understand the evidence and theory of spatial mismatch between unemployment and job vacancy in economic geography, we must describe the strategic behavior of jobseekers and establishments thoroughly. Such structural underpinnings of search-match frictions in urban labor markets provide the fine empirical strategy and evaluation method of active labor market programs to achieve wage growth, higher match quality, and flexible turnovers. At the same time, recent empirical and theoretical studies have (re-)emphasized the role of informal job networks on job searches and matching in developing economies, as well as labor markets in developed economies.

This study proposes a new mechanism linking job search-matching, networks, and market size in developing economies to detect the explicit role of the urban landscape, i.e., Chinatown and urban agglomeration. It investigates the testable implications of these informal linkages in Chinatown and urban agglomeration using survey data and establishment-level data gathered from developing economies such as Indonesia, Thailand, or other developing economies. To characterize the search-matching mechanism in urban labor markets, this study describes the skill formation process and the returns to general and specific skill. It identifies the key players (information hubs) of the formation of job networks. In addition, we investigate the geographic extent of job networks and its quality. Based on these points of view, we compare the roles (complementarity and substitutability) of informal transactions with formal transactions in urban labor markets to seek optimal unemployment levels, durations, and long-term match quality. This research has investigated the inside of the urban landscape of Chinatowns and the relationship between entrepreneurship and residential choice based on theoretical characterization of urban labor markets.

Organizer: MACHIKITA Tomohiro

(10) Location Choice of Multinational Enterprises and Impacts of FDI on Investors' Performance at Home: Evidence from Various Types of FDI

The purpose of this research project is to examine the impact of foreign direct investment (FDI) on host and home economies according to FDI type. Specifically, I investigate two topics: (i) choice of location by multinational enterprises (MNEs), and (ii) the impact of overseas investment by MNEs on their performance at home. In particular, my analysis is conducted according to various types of FDI, including not only traditional FDI types but also those proposed in the 2000s. In FY2010, my research focused on (1) analysis of the simultaneous choices of location and traditional FDI types, (2) the choice of FDI from among traditional FDI types and export-platform FDI, and (3) the impact of traditional FDI types on investor performance at

home. The first analysis is novel in terms of its two-dimensional choice analysis. The second is a somewhat comprehensive analysis of FDI in terms of incorporating a new FDI type, that of an export-platform FDI. The third analysis is conducted under the differentiation of the impact on technical efficiency and resource efficiency. In FY2011, I will continue these studies and complete a portion of them.

Organizer: HAYAKAWA Kazunobu

II. International Conferences, Symposia, Workshops

(1) 2010 APEC Study Centres Consortium (ASCC) Conference —Achieving the Bogor Goals and Beyond— July 8-9, 2010

In 1993, APEC Leaders decided to establish a network of APEC Study Centres (ASC). There are now ASCs in 20 member economies, comprising some 100 universities, research centers, and centers of academic excellence. Together they form the APEC Study Centres Consortium (ASCC). An annual ASCC Conference held in the APEC host economy provides an opportunity for scholars to discuss their research and to identify areas for regional cooperation. In 2010, when Japan was the host economy for APEC, IDE-JETRO hosted the 2010 ASCC Conference entitled "Achieving the Bogor Goals and Beyond."

Research on a number of issues was presented and active discussions were held at the conference. Discussions held over two days resulted in the following suggestions for desirable directions of APEC.

- FTAAP (Free Trade Area of the Asia Pacific) should be a legally binding and high-quality FTA, and APEC should position itself as an incubator to encourage the formation of FTAAP among the member economies.
- Assessment of the Bogor Goals identified modest progress in services liberalization as an area as a source of concern and called for the need for further cooperation in this area.
- To truly achieve open and free trade in the region, APEC needs to keep the Bogor Goals. In addition, APEC must include growth agendas focused on four growth strategies: (1) innovative growth, including green economy, (2) sustainable growth, (3) inclusive growth, and (4) balanced growth.

IDE-JETRO prepared the policy brief "APEC Beyond the Bogor Goals: Proposal for a New Vision" based on discussions held during the ASCC and research at IDE, and submitted it to Senior Official Meeting 3 (SOM 3) held in October 2010. In addition, to disseminate and share messages in that policy brief, IDE-JETRO hosted an international symposium titled "Regional Integration in East Asia and APEC" in October 2010 in Tokyo. Based on discussions held at the symposium, IDE-JETRO submitted the policy brief "Possible Pathway towards Achieving the Free Trade Area of the Asia Pacific (FTAAP)" to the Minister of State for National Policy in October 2010 before the APEC Summit 2010 Yokohama.

(2) Regional Integration in East Asia and APEC October 18, 2010

An international symposium was held in Tokyo on October 18, 2010 under the auspices of IDE and under the aegis of the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. At the symposium, experts invited from countries around the world discussed "the relationship between progress in regional integration in East Asia and APEC" and "the importance of growth strategies and how APEC can contribute to development in the region through the growth strategies."

During the opening session, Takashi Shiraishi, President of IDE, pinned his hopes on this symposium, saying, "I hope that participants at this symposium will freely and vigorously discuss how to plan economic growth in the circum-Pacific region by promoting the liberalization of trade within the framework of the Pacific Rim, and what pathways there are to that end, and that they will make proposals to APEC or to the Japanese government." Hidehiko Nishiyama, Director-General for Trade Policy at the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry, introduced the interim results: "We are bringing the results of this year to a conclusion, considering in what way APEC should contribute to WTO negotiations, and discussing the issues with members of the business community and academia."

During Session 1, researchers from various countries actively discussed the ideas and responses of the U.S., New Zealand, China, Singapore, and Japan under the theme of "The Future of Regional Integration in East Asia and the Role of APEC."

During Session 2, participants discussed initiatives for environmental issues in each country and measures that developing countries should take for sustainable growth, under the theme of "Growth Strategy; Green Economy, and Innovation," and confirmed that green economy continues to be an important issue in APEC.

Details of discussions at this symposium were compiled and submitted as policy proposals.

Participants: Takashi Shiraishi (President, IDE-JET-RO), Hidehiko Nishiyama (APEC 2010 SOM Chair/ Director-General for Trade Policy, Japan's Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry)

Session1

Chair Daisuke Hiratsuka (Director-General, Research Planning Department, IDE-JETRO)

Panelists Peter Petri (Carl J. Shapiro Professor of International Finance, Brandeis International Business School, USA), Robert Scollay (Director, APEC Study Centre, University of Auckland, New Zealand), Cai Penghong (Director, APEC Research Center Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences, China), Hank Lim (Senior Research Fellow, Singapore Institute of International Affairs (SIIA)), Shujiro Urata (Professor, Waseda University, Japan)

Session2

Chair Kaoru Nabeshima (Senior Researcher, IDE-JETRO)

Panelists Gary Hufbauer (Senior Research Fellow, Peterson Institute for International Economics), Laurence W. Bates (General Counsel-Japan, GE Japan), Hee Kyung An (Project Manager, Green Management Planning Office, Korea National Cleaner Production Center, Korea Institute of Industrial Technology), Haruhisa Somaya (Councilor for APEC, APEC Office, Trade Policy Bureau, Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry)

(3) Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables

Wednesday 26 January, Thursday 27 January, 2010

This workshop was held as part of the research project for compiling international input-output tables "Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables." The project aims to construct the 2005 Asian International Input-Output Table and the 2005 BRICs international input-output table in collaboration with prominent academic/statistical institutions in target countries. In this light, the workshop was organized such that it would accommodate lively discussions between the representative participants on the issues of industrial structure and economic interdependency in the Asia-Pacific region, as well as the new application of I-O data to the analysis of technological spillover and impact propagation.

The contents of this workshop were published as Inomata and Kuwamori (eds.), *Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Tables* (Asian International Input-Output Series No.76).

(4) Building New Clean Water Networks in China: Challenges and Opportunities for Protecting Lake Tai December 10, 2010

This workshop was sponsored by the Woodrow Wilson Center's China Environment Forum, the Institute of Developing Economies, and Nanjing University's Center for Environmental Management and Policy, and made possible by a grant from the Center for Global Partnership, Japan Foundation. It consisted of a workshop open to the public in the morning and a workshop for experts invited to participate in the afternoon. In the morning workshop, we invited Prof. Masahisa Nakamura from Shiga University (Japan) as one of the keynote speakers to present "Lake Basin Governance and International Cooperation: Experiences in the Lake Biwa-Yodo River Basin, Japan," as well as Mr. Shi Wang from Nanjing University (China), another keynote speaker, to present "Water Environmental Conservation and Stakeholder Participation in China: Challenges in the Lake Tai Basin." Following these presentations, Prof. Noah Hal, from Wayne State University (U.S.) gave a short presentation on "The Water Compact in the Great Lakes Basin: Lessons for China" as his comments. These presentations and comments have highlighted how Japan, China, and the United States have faced similar challenges in promoting better lake protection. In the afternoon, we held two panel discussions. At the first panel, under the theme of "Bringing More to the Table: Partnerships Linking Community, Business, and Government to Better Protect Water Resources," Mr. Shi Wang (Nanjing University, China), Mr. Yuequn Jiang (Yixing Economic Development Zone, China), Mr. Osamu Fujiki (Japan Institute of Wastewater Engineering Technology), and Ms. Linda Sheehan (California Coastkeeper Alliance, U.S.) gave short presentations and held a discussion with other participants. At the second panel, under the theme of "Roles of NGOs in Strengthening Water Governance?Insights from Japan and China," Liping Ran (Green Camel Bell, China), Junzhi Wang (Jiangsu Friends of Nature, China), and Noriko Sakamoto (Japan for Sustainability) gave short presentations followed by discussion between the participants. Before concluding the workshop, we discussed possibilities and tasks to build a new clean water network to contribute to improvement and restoration of the Lake Tai environment.

Chairs, Speakers, Panelists and Discussants:

Jennifer Turner (Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, U.S.), Noah Hall (Wayne State University, U.S.), Linda Sheehan (California Coastkeeper Alliance, U.S.), Peter Marsters (Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, U.S.), Shi Wang (Center for Environmental Management and Policy, Nanjing University, China), Yuequn Jiang (Environmental Protection Bureau of Jiangsu Yixing Economic Development Zone, China), Junzhi Wang (Jiangsu Friends of Nature, China), Liping Ran (Green Camel Bell, China), Laijuan Shan (Center for Environmental Management and Policy, Nanjing University, China), Masahisa Nakamura (Center for Sustainability and Environment, Shiga University, Japan), Osamu Fujiki (Japan Institute of Wastewater Engineering Technology, Japan), Noriko Sakamoto (Japan for Sustainability, Japan), Yayoi Isono (Tokyo Keizai University, Japan), Mizuochi, Motoyuki (National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan), Kaori Fujita (Kinki University, Japan), Zhang Hongyu (VRF of IDE-JETRO, China), Michikazu Kojima, Kenji Otsuka, Nanae Yamada, Vella, Antienza (IDE-JETRO, Japan).

(5) International Workshop on "Development of the 'Shanzhai' Gangster-mobile Phone Industry in China" January 2, 2011

As one case of China's experience with industrial development, we focused on the mobile phone industry, specifically, the Shanzhai (gangster) mobile phone business in Shenzhen this year. In order to explore the mechanism behind the development, IDE conducted a joint research project with the Shenzhen Semiconductor Association. A workshop seminar was held in order to share and discuss the results of the joint research. The program included presentations by (1) Pang Jiutang "Made by Shanzhai: The poor man's business model," (2) Marukawa Tomoo "Indigenous innovation in the mobile phone industry: 3G telecommunication technology and the Shanzhai mobile phone," (3) Watanabe Mariko "The market structure of the mobile phone industry and domestic brands," and (4) Yuan Quan "A brief history of the Shenzhen consumer electronics industry."

The first speaker reported that the Shanzhai industry can grow very fast thanks to expansion of emerging markets, and introduced the structure of the value chain in that industry, as well as its core competence, then discussed the sustainability of the business model. The second speaker reported on the development of the 3rd generation telecommunication technology TD-SCDMA. The third speaker presented an analysis of the mobile phone market structure based on a market research company's data for 30 major cities. The fourth speaker reported on the history of development of Shezhen's consumer electronics, which are characterized by a Shanzhai-type business model.

The following points were discussed: Although Shanzhai mobile phones lack core technology, do they have core competence? How did they achieve a critical mass that makes platforms in purchasing, sales, and technologies profitable? Which technology-pushing or demand-pulling factors promote product development? Is Nokia or Shanzhai more competitive in the low-end market? Do "public tips" and "public modules" induce aggressive entry and create a huge number of firms active in Chinese markets?

(6) The Role of Governments in Economic Development in the 21st Century February 16, 2011

An international symposium was held in Tokyo on February 16, 2011, under the auspices of IDE, the World Bank, and The Asahi Shimbun Company, with experts invited from countries worldwide. With issues of states and markets in development having come to take on a new meaning, the symposium sent messages about important issues, including the relationship between development support by Japan and the economic growth of Japan in the future.

In his keynote speech, Dr. Ben Fine, Professor of Economics at the School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London, stated his view that the principles of guidelines for support policies are to contribute to the building of capability of states, to make finance subordinate to policies rather than the other way around, to evaluate the issue of whose interests will actually be helped by the support, and not to expect reward. Mr. Jim Adams, Regional Vice President, East Asia and Pacific Region, The World Bank, then indicated his opinion that the East Asia/Pacific region should make efforts toward further reduction of poverty as well as sustainable growth, and that initiatives for such issues as climate change, improvement of infrastructure, medical treatment, and education will be important to that end.

During the panel discussion, there was active interchange of various points of view regarding the industrial policies, financialization, and support forms (economic cooperation) of China.

Participants: Mr. Yasuo Hayashi (Chairman, JETRO), Mr. Nobuyuki Sugiura (General Manager, Managing Editor of Tokyo Head Office, The Asahi Shimbun), Mr. Kazushige Taniguchi (Special Representative,Japan, World Bank)

Keynote Speech1 Dr. Ben Fine (Professor of Economics at the School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London (SOAS))

Keynote Speech2 Mr. Jim Adams (Regional Vice President, East Asia and Pacific Region, The World Bank)

Panel Discussion

Moderator Dr. Takashi Shiraishi (President, IDE-JETRO)

Panelists Dr. Wook Chae (President, Korea Institute for International Economic Policy (KIEP)), Mr. Katsumi Hirano (Director-General, Area Studies Center, IDE-JETRO), Mr. Tadao Yanase (Director of Minister's Secretariat, Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry), Dr. Ben Fine (Professor, School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London(SOAS)), Mr. Kazushige Taniguchi (Special Representative, Japan, The World Bank)

(7) ERIA-IDE-UNIDO Joint Conference on "Green Economy, Sustainable Innovation, and Structural Change: Challenges and Opportunities"

March 7-8, 2011

The meeting focused on developing an agenda for the upcoming three-year research project titled "Green Growth in Asia," co-organized by the Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia (ERIA), IDE-JETRO, and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), and beginning in FY2011. Concerns were expressed about issues such as an increase in energy prices, global climate change, and then impact of tightened environmental regulations on international trade, particularly import markets. The project suggests appropriate policy options based on the results of its research for the East Asian region and countries that are facing and tackling those concerns.

The meeting consisted of two parts: a presentation session and a brainstorming session. The presentation session was first. It began with a keynote speech by Mr. Luluk Sumiarso, Director-General, New Energy Renewable and Energy Conservation, Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resource, Republic of Indonesia. The speech was followed by presentations by researchers and outside experts from each organization, in order to facilitate stocktaking and the sharing of knowledge of research resources that will be core elements in the developing research agenda for the project. The brainstorming session followed, with participants discussing issues related to developing the research agenda, the scheme of policy recommendation, and a number of administrative matters such as budget and operation. The participating organizations agreed to carry the coming project forward to FY2011 as a preliminary activity, including sharing more research information and exchanging views in order to deepen mutual understanding and cooperation on implementation of the project.

IV. Activities to Promote International Research Exchanges

1. Hosting of Visiting Research Fellows (VRF)

In this program, academic and other related field specialists exclusively from developing countries are invited to conduct research in Japan as VRFs. This program offers VRFs opportunities to carry out research on developing economies and related issues, exchange opinions and information on development affairs with IDE researchers, and learn about Japanese development experience through activities such as study tour program and seminars on Japan. In FY 2010, the IDE hosted and financially supported 8 VRFs (1 fellow as a Project-Linked VRF) and 1 self supporting fellow from abroad.

Visiting Research Fellows (VRF)

*IDE Supporting Fellows

Name	Status/Institutions, Country	Research Topic	
Fang Yong	Associate Professor, Department of International Economics and Trade, Nanjing University, China	Affiliates and Technological Growth of Lo- cal Enterprises-The Example of Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, China	
Cemal Atici	Associate Professor, Department of Agricultural Economics, Adnan Menderes University, Turkey	Trade Liberalization and Environmental Interaction in Japan and ASEAN : An Extended Environmental Kuznets Curve with Panel Data	
Pravakar Sahoo	Associate Professor, Institute of Economic Growth, Delhi University, India	Addressing Challenges for Infrastructure Development in India: Lessons from Japan	
Zhang Hongwu	Professor, Tianjin University of Commerce, China	A Study on China's Shift to a Low-Carbon Economy- Based on the Perspective of Regional En- vironmental Governance	
Andrea Lopes	Ph.D. Professor, Gerontology Program, Science and Humanity, School of Arts, São Paulo University, Brazil	Volunteer Work and Aging: A Comparative Study among American, Brazilian and Japanese Seniors	
Eric Vincent Celestial Batalla	Chair, Political Science Department, De La Salle University, Philippines	Japan and the Philippines' Lost Decade	
Prapart Pintobtang	Assistant Professor, Department of Government, Faculty of Political Science, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand	People Movements in Rural Area after September 19th Coup in Thailand	
(Project Linked VRF Program)	Assistant Research Fellow, Institute of Taiwan History,	Research Project Topic: Comprehensive Study on Taiwan III: Cen- tripetal and Centrifugal Power of Taiwan- ese Society	
Rwei-Ren Wu	Academia Sinica	Research Topic: United in Public Interests?: Civil Society and the Revival of Civic Na- tionalism in Contemporary Taiwan	

Name Status/Institutions, 0		Status/Institutions, Country	Research Topic
	Sun Hyang	Director of Material & Nanotechnology Stan- dards Division, Korean Agency for Technology and Standards	The Development of the Analytical Tool- box for an Economic Impact of Standards

*Self Supporting Fellow

2. Dispatching of IDE Staff Abroad

The IDE dispatches researchers abroad on two-year assignments to have them build up their experience of conducting research in developing countries and regions. Through this program, researchers are expected to improve their ability to make in-depth analyses of economic, political, and social phenomena in those countries and to build overseas institutional research networks. In FY2010, nine researchers were sent abroad to be affiliated with research institutes, universities, and international organizations.

(1) Senior Research Fellows Sent Abroad

	Name	Place (Country)	Host Institution	Research Topic		
1	Koichi Kitano	Santiago (Chile)	Pontifical Catolic University of Chile	The Corporate Strategy and Institutions in the Chilean Natural- Resource-Based Industries		
2	Mayumi Murayama	New Delhi (India)	Institute of Economic Growth	Social changes in India under rapid economic growth: An analysis from gender and employment perspec- tive		
3	Ikuko Okamoto	Canberra (Austra- lia)	The Resource Management in Asia-Pacific Program (RMAP), The Research School of Pacific and Asian Studies (RSPAS), Australian National University	Environmental Conservation and Livelihood Strategy in Rural Areas in Developing Countries: Resource Utilization, Competition and Coor- dination in Rural Myanmar		
4	Yoko Iwasaki	Tehran (Iran)	Faculty of World Studies of University of Tehran	Transformation of production and distribution system in Iran's apparel industry		
5	Aki Sakaguchi	Caracas (Venezu- ela)	Center for Development Studies, Venezuela Central University (CENDES-UCV)	Policy-Making and State-Society Relationship under Chavez's Ven- ezuela		
6	Takeo Donoue	Beijing (China)	China-Japan Long Term Trade Committee	Establishment and Operation of Economic Law in China and the Response of Japanese Business- es, Government and Economic Organizations		
		Bangkok (Thailand)	Thailand Development Re- search Institute (TDRI)	Comparative Study of Small and		
7	Shuji Uchikawa	New Delhi (India)	Research and Information Sys- tem for Developing Countries (RIS)	Medium Enterprises Development in India and Thailand		
8	Yuka Kodama	Bath (England)	Department of Economics & International Development, University of Bath	Analysis for Network formation in the rural Ethiopia behind Economic		
				Addis Ababa (Ethiopia)	Collage of Development Stud- ies, Addis Ababa University	Liberalization and "Democratiza- tion"
9	Masahiro Kodama	Kuala Lumpur (Ma- laysia)	Malaysian Institute of Economic Research	Productivity and Production Cost of the Malaysian Industry		

		London (England)	School of Oriental And African Studies, University of London	Industrial Policy and Industrial
10 Hajime Sato		New Delhi (India)	Centre for Economic Studies and Planning, School of Social Sience, Jawaharlal Nehru Uni- versity	Development: the case of the steel industry in Asia
11	Hiroshi Sato	Brighton (England)	Institute of Development Stud- ies, University of Sussex	Development and Business -how to combine public interest and private interest
12	Taeko Hoshino	Mexico City (Mexi- co)	Centro de Estudios Sociologi- cos, El Colegio de Mexico	Requisites of Entrance and Growth for the Local Firms in Export Indus- tries -Case of the Mexican Auto- mobile Industry after the Financial Crisis of 2008-
13	Norihiro Sasaki	Shanghai (China)	School of International Rela- tions and Public Affairs, Fudan University	Development of political reform in China: Experiment in Shanghai and extension to all over the country
14	Kensuke Kubo	New Delhi (India)	Planning Unit, Indian Statistical Institute	Empirical Research on the Perfor- mance of the Indian Pharmaceuti- cal Market
15	Yurika Suzuki	Manila (Philippines)	School of Economics, University of the Philippines	Investment Behavior of Firms in the Philippines

(2) Research Fellows Sent Abroad

	Name Place (Country)		Host Institution	Research Topic
1	Nanae Yamada	Beijing (China)	Institute of Agricultural Econom- ics and Development, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sci- ences	Public Goods Provision Systems in Rural China under Market Transi-
		Qingdao (China)	College of Economics, Qingdao Agricultural University	tion
2	Yuichi Watanabe	North Carolina (U.S.A)	University o North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Department of Eco- nomics	Empirical Analysis on Economic Rationality of Taxation in Korea
3	Bo Meng	eng Paris (France) Organisation for Economic Co- operation and Development		Regional Integration and Economic Growth in EU and East Asia: A Comparative Study Based on Inter- national Input-Output Table
4	Mami Yamaguchi	Beijing (China)	Department of Sociology, School of Humanities and Social Sciences, Tsinghua University	Rural-Urban Migration and Social Mobility in China Under Industrial-
		Chengdu China	Sichunan Union University	ization
5	Shuji Kano	Yanbian (China)	Yanbian University, College of Economics Management	Bibliographical Study on China- North Korea Economic Relations
6	Nobuhiro Aizawa	Ithaca (U.S.A)	Cornell University Southeast Asia Program	Regionalizing Southeast Asia and Thailand's Strategies Immigration,
0	Nobulii o Aizawa	Bangkok (Thailand)	Faculty of Political Science, Chulalongkorn University	Nationality and Foreign workers
7	Hitoshi Ota New Delhi (India) Centre for Economic Studies and Planning, Jawaharlal Nehru University		Labor and Inclusion in India: the Challenge of Social India against Social Exclusion	
8	Haruka Mateumete	Taipei (Taiwan) Acad Euro		Analyzing the Decision-Making Factors for China's Multilateral
0	Haruka Matsumoto	Beijing (China)	Peking University, School of International Studies	Diplomacy

9	Takayuki Higashi- kata	Jakarta (Indonesia)	Institute of Social and Economic Research, Faculty of Econom- ics, University of Indonesia	Impact Evaluation of Decentraliza- tion in Indonesia
10	Hisaki Kono	Boston (U.S.A)	Department of Economics, Har- vard University	Theory-based empirical analysis on antipoverty policies
11	Emi Kojin	Ho Chi Minh (Viet- nam)	Southern Institute of Sustain- able Development	Changes of production and mar- keting system of agro-products in Vietnam
12	Kazushi Takahashi	Ithaca (U.S.A)	Cornell University Department of Applied Economics and Man- agement	Towards the Improvement of Liv- ing Standards of the Rural Poor: Theory and Evidence
13	Toshitaka Gokan	Louvain-la-Neuve (Belgium)	The Center for Operations Research and Econometrics, University Catholic Louvain	Location choice of firms and re- gional integration

3. Networking Activities

The IDE conducted various international networking activities to serve as a centre of excellence for development studies. Activities in FY 2010 are summarized as follows.

- Invited 3 development experts and organized special seminars and discussion meetings.
- Received 100 overseas visitors and organized seminars and meetings.
- Delivered 43 researchers to present research outcomes at international conferences such as academic societies and international symposiums.
- Exchanged the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the Pontificia Universidad Católica, Chile to expand international research network.

V. Publications

Please visit the websites for publications at http://www.ide.go.jp/English/Publish/index.html

< Periodicals >

1. The Developing Economies (Quarterly, in English)

Vol. 48, Nos. 2--4; Vol. 49, No. 1

This is an international and interdisciplinary forum for studies on social sciences relating to developing countries. It provides an opportunity for discussions and exchanges across a wide spectrum of scholarly opinions to promote empirical and comparative studies on the problems confronted by developing countries. It was established in 1962.

All texts of this journal up to Volume 43 (2005) and the abstract of each article after Volume 44 (2006) are available to read on the website.

http://www.ide.go.jp/English/Publish/Periodicals/De/ backnumber.html

2. Asian Economies (Monthly, in Japanese; Japanese title: Ajia Keizai)

Vol. 51, Nos. 4--12, Vol. 52, Nos.1--3

This is a leading journal in Japan that publishes studies of development issues. It contains articles, theoretical and empirical notes, occasional reports of surveys and conferences, and book reviews, and is open for scholars and students to contribute their manuscripts. It was established in 1960.

All texts of this journal are available to read on the website one year after publication.

http://www.ide.go.jp/Japanese/Publish/Periodicals/ Ajia/backnumber.html

3. Ajiken World Trends (Monthly, in Japanese; Japanese title: Ajiken Warudo Torendo)

Nos.175--186

This analytical and informative magazine explores the future prospects of developing countries. It provides the latest information on political, economic, and social issues, feature articles, and economic statistics of Asian countries. It was established in 1995.

All texts of this magazine are available to read on the website one year after its publication. http://www.ide.go.jp/Japanese/Publish/Periodicals/W_ trend/backnumber.html

4. Latin America Report (Biannual, in Japanese; Japanese title: Raten Amerika Repoto)

Vol. 27, Nos. 1, 2

This report provides accurate analyses of information on the fluid Latin American region, and overviews various aspects of long-term social development in the region.

All texts of this report are available to read on the website one year after its publication.

http://www.ide.go.jp/Japanese/Publish/Periodicals/ Latin/backnumber.html

5. Yearbook of Asian Affairs 2010 (Annual, in Japanese; Japanese title: Ajia Doko Nenpo)

This yearbook provides an analytical overview of yearly economic and political affairs in Asian countries including Central Asian countries, with an outline of issues and news arranged in chronological order. Key economic statistics, governments' organization charts, and related documents are attached.

All texts of this yearbook are available to read on the website five year after its publication.

http://www.ide.go.jp/English/Library/index.html

< Books >

1. IDE Research Series (in Japanese, Japanese series name: "Kenkyu Sosho")

No. 585 Disability law in Asian countries: Challenge and prospects for legal rights Edited by Masayuki Kobayashi Japanese title: Ajia-shokoku no shogaisha-ho: Hoteki-

kenri no kakuritsu to kadai

No. 586 Policy changes on international recycling in Asia

Edited by Michikazu Kojima

Japanese title: Kokusai risaikuru o meguru seido henyo: Ajia o chushin ni

No. 587 Dynamism of evolution and adaptation of business group in emerging countries: The case of the 20 largest business groups in Mexico

By Taeko Hoshino

Japanese title: Mekishiko no bijinesu-gurupu no shinka to tekio

No. 588 Governance for water environment conservation in China: Toward institutional building in the Tai Lake basin

Edited by Kenji Otsuka

Japanese title: Chugoku no mizu-kankyo-hozen to gabanansu: Taiko-ryuiki ni okeru seido-kochiku ni mukete

No. 589 Engineers and industrial development in Asia Edited by Yukihito Sato Japanese title: Ajia no sangyo-hatten to gijutsusha

No. 590 Private sector development in the Arab Middle East

Edited by Ichiki Tsuchiya

Japanese title: Chuto-Arabu-shokoku ni okeru minkanbumon no hatten

No. 591 International capital flows and changing economic structures in emerging Asian countries Edited by Kozo Kunimune

Japanese title: Kokusai-shikin-ido to Higashi-Ajia shinko-koku no keizai-kozo-henka

No. 592 Low-income countries overcoming global competition: Export-oriented development in the new age

Edited by Tatsufumi Yamagata

Japanese title: Gurobaru-kyoso ni uchikatsu teishotoku-koku: Shinjidai no yushutsu-shinko kaihatsusenryaku

No. 593 Ideal and reality of Korean socialist economy: An analysis on industrial structure and economic management in DPRK

By Masahiko Nakagawa

Japanese title: Chosen-shakaishugi-keizai no riso to genjitsu: Chosen-minshushugi-jinminkyowakoku ni okeru sangyo-kozo to keizai-kanri

No. 594 Social protection system for elderly people and critical social gerontology Edited by Koichi Usami Japanese title: Shinko-shokoku ni okeru koreisha-seikatsu-hosho-seido: Hihanteki-shakai-ronen-gaku kara no sekkin

2. IDE Selected Books (in Japanese, Japanese series name: "Ajiken Sensho")

No. 23 Globalizing Islamic banking Edited by Miki Hamada and Sadashi Fukuda Japanese title: Sekai ni hirogaru Isuramu-kinyu

No. 24 The current stage of "harmonic society" building in China Edited by Norihiro Sasaki Japanese title: Chugoku chowa-shakai kochiku no gendankai

No. 25 Taiwan, Hong Kong, and East Asian regionalism

By Takayuki Takeuchi

Japanese title: Taiwan, Honkon to Higashi-Ajia chiikishugi

3. Statistical Data Series (in Japanese, Japanese series name: "Tokei-shiryo")

No. 94 Economic modeling on Asia for long-term evaluation (I)

Edited by Hiroki Nogami and Jinichi Uemura Japanese title: Ajia choki-keizai-seicho no moderubunseki

< Downloadable Papers and Reports >

1. Research Papers (in Japanese, Japanese name: Chosa Kenkyu Hokoku-sho)

Fukuoka Prefecture-IDE Joint Research, East Asia's economic integration and Fukuoka's development Japanese title: Fukuokaken-Ajia Keizai Kenkyusho renkei-kenkyu-jigyo Higashi-Ajia keizai-togo to Fukuoka-chiiki no hatten

国際貿易データを基礎とした貿易指数と国際比較・分析

Japanese title: Kokusai-boeki-deta o kiso toshita Boeki-shisu to kokusai-hikaku-bunseki

• How Chinese industries have developed? Japanese title: Chugoku no Sangyo wa donoyoni hatten shitekitaka?

• Social welfare and governmentality in emerging countries

Japanese title: Shinkou-shokoku ni okeru Shakaiseisaku to Touchisei

• Political participation by "the excluded" in Latin America

Japanese title: Raten-Amerika ni okeru "haijyo sareta mono-tachi" no seiji sanka

• Firm, market and industry in developing economies: Exploring a new industrial development theory

Japanese title: Hatten-tojo-koku no Sangyo, Kigyo, Shijyo: Atarashii Sangyo-hatten-ron no Kochiku o mezashite

 政治的寛容に関する先行研究概観と試論
 Japanese title: Seijiteki-henyo ni kansuru senko-kenkyu-gaikan to Shiron

• Comparative studies on political institutions in Southeast Asia

Japanese title: Tonan-Ajia seiji-seido no hikaku-bunseki

• The change in social contract in Egypt

Japanese title: Ejiputo ni okeru Shakai-keiyaku no henyo

• The rise of multinational corporations from Middle East

Japanese title: Chuto-kigyo no kokusai-jigyo-tenkai

• Social transformation in post-transition South Africa Japanese title: Posuto-ikoki Minami-Afurika no shakai-henyo • Global recession and economic policies in developing countries

Japanese title: Sekaiteki-keiki-kotai to Kaihatsu-tojokoku no seisaku-taiou

• Employment of persons with disabilities in developing countries

Japanese title: Kaihatsu-tojyo-koku no shogaisha-koyo : Koyo-hosei to shuro-jittai

• Economic policies and economic structures of transition economies in Southeast Asia: A comparative study of Myanmar and Vietnam

Japanese title: Tounan-ajia iko-keizai no keizai-seisaku to keizai-kozo: Myanma to Betonamu no hikakukenkyu

• Elimination of child labor in a multi-actor approach Japanese title: Jido-rodo konzetsu ni muketa tamenteki-apurochi

• International comparison of environmental policy development from historical viewpoint

Japanese title: Kankyo-seisaku-keisei-katei no kokusai-hikaku

- Economic Integration and Recycling in Asia (in English)
- Reform of local governance for environmental conservation and restoration in river and lake basins, China

Japanese title: Chuugoku ni okeru ryuuiki no kankyohozen-saisei ni muketa gabanansu : Taiko ryuiki eno apurochi

2. Joint Research Program Series

No.156 中国山寨产业的生产流通体系 丁可 主 编

No.155 Stakeholder Involvement in Water Environment Conservation in China and Japan : Building Effective Governance in the Tai Lake Basin, Edited by Jun Bi, Kenji Otsuka, Junjie Ge, and Shi Wang

3. Spot Survey

No. 32 The World Food Crisis and the Strategies of Asian Rice Exporters, by Shinichi Shigetomi, Kensuke Kubo, and Kazunari Tsukada

http://www.ide.go.jp/English/Publish/Download/Spot/ index.html

4. IDE Discussion Paper

232 FDI and Export Participation of Local Firms in Africa: The Case of the Kenyan Garment Industry Takahiro Fukunishi

233 Interaction of Powers in the Philippine Presidential System Takeshi Kawanaka

234 The Determinants of Offshore Production by Multinational Corporations (MNCs): A Comparison of Japanese and US MNCs

Toshiyuki Matsuura, Kiyoyasu Tanaka, and Shujiro Urata

235 Is the Indonesian President Strong or Weak? Koichi Kawamura

236 No Insulation: Politics and Technocracy's Troubled Trajectory Khoo Boo Teik

237 Intra-regional Trade between China, Japan, and Korea: Before and After the Financial Crisis Ikuo Kuroiwa and Hiromichi Ozeki

238 Social Movements and the Crisis of Neoliberalism in Malaysia and Thailand Khoo Boo Teik

239 Critical Connections: Islamic Politics and Political Economy in Indonesia and Malaysia Khoo Boo Teik and Vedi R. Hadiz

240 Political Institutions and Policy Outcomes: Effects of Presidential Vetoes on Budget Making Takeshi Kawanaka

241 Transport Costs, Distance, and Time: Evidence from the Japanese Census of Logistics

Kiyoyasu Tanaka

242 Effectiveness of the Monetary Policy Framework in Present-day India: Have Financial Variables Functioned as Useful Policy Indicators? Takeshi Inoue

243 Kenya's 2007 Election Crisis Miwa Tsuda

244 Cyber-networks, Physical Coalitions and Missing Links: Imagining and Realizing Dissent in Malaysia 1998-2008 Khoo Boo Teik

245 The Dynamics of Spending and Absorption of Aid: Panel Data Analysis Abu S Shonchoy

246 Trade of Heilongjiang Province (China) with Russia Hideki Hiraizumi

247 Liability Dollarization and Fear of Floating Quoc Hung Nguyen

248 Restoration of Micro Data of John Lossing Buck's Survey and Analysis of the Inverse Relationship between Yield and Farm Size in Rural China in the 1930's Hisatoshi Hoken

Hisatoshi Hoken

249 How Has Financial Deepening Affected Poverty Reduction in India? Empirical Analysis Using State-Level Panel Data Takeshi Inoue and Shigeyuki Hamori

250 Are Trading Partners Complementary in International Trade?

Kazunobu Hayakawa, Kiyoyasu Tanaka, and Yasushi Ueki

251 Location Choice of Multinational Enterprises in China: Comparison between Japan and Taiwan Kuo-I Chang, Kazunobu Hayakawa, and Toshiyuki Matsuura

252 Globalization and Productivity: A Survey of Firmlevel Analysis Kazunobu Hayakawa, Fukunari Kimura, and Tomohiro Machikita

253 The Size Distribution of All Cambodian Establishments Kiyoyasu Tanaka and Naomi Hatsukano

254 The Determinants of Rural Electrification in Bihar, India Hisaya Oda and Yuko Tsujita

255 Recent Trends in Asian Integration and Japanese Participation Mitsuhiro Kagami

256 Performance of Financial Institutions in Bhutan Dil Bahadur Rahut, Ivan Velasqez Castellanos, and Pravakar Sahoo

257 Myanmar Migrant Laborers in Ranong, Thailand Koichi Fujita, Tamaki Endo, Ikuko Okamoto, Yoshihiro Nakanishi, and Miwa Yamada

258 Smuggling and Import Duties in Myanmar Koji Kubo and Nu Nu Lwin

259 Income Disparity among Persons with Disabilities Assessed by Education and Sex: Findings from a Field Survey Conducted in Metro Manila, the Philippines Jose Ramon Albert, Soya Mori, Celia Reyes, Aubrey Tabuga, and Tatsufumi Yamagata

260 The Urban Middle Class in the Instability of New Democracies Takeshi Kawanaka

261 Infrastructure Development and Economic Growth in China

Pravakar Sahoo, Ranjan Kumar Dash, and Geethanjali Nataraj

262 The Making of a State-Centered "Public Sphere" in Turkey: A Discourse Analysis Yasushi Hazama

263 Tax Differentials and Inflow of Foreign Direct Investments: Evidence from Foreign Operations of U.S. Multinational Companies Yuichi Watanabe 264 Yangtze River Delta's System Integration: Institutional Barriers and Countermeasures Zhang Yu

265 Commercialization of Agriculture in the Himalayas

Dil Bahadur Rahut, Iván Velásquez Castellanos, and Pravakar Sahoo

266 Determinants of Government Consumption Expenditure in Developing Countries: A Panel Data Analysis Abu S Shonchoy

267 The Role of Home and Host Country Characteristics in FDI: Firm-Level Evidence from Japan, Korea and Taiwan

Kazunobu Hayakawa, Hyun-Hoon Lee, and Donghyun Park

268 Firm Dynamics in the Cambodian Garment Industry: Firm Turnover, Productivity Growth, and Wage Profile under Trade Liberalization

Yoko Asuyama, Dalin Chhun, Takahiro Fukunishi, Seiha Neou, and Tatsufumi Yamagata

269 International Real Business Cycles: A Re-Visit Quoc Hung Nguyen

270 Vertical Specialisation Indicator Based on Supply-Driven Input-Output Model Bo Meng, Norihiko Yamano, and Colin Webb

271 An Empirical Analysis on the Efficiency of the Microfinance Investment Market Takeshi Inoue and Shigeyuki Hamori

272 Investment Promotion Agencies: Do They Work? Kazunobu Hayakawa, Hyun-Hoon Lee, and Donghyun Park

273 A Two-dimensional Analysis of the Impact of Outward FDI on Performance at Home: Evidence from Japanese Manufacturing Firms

Ayako Obashi, Kazunobu Hayakawa, Toshiyuki Matsuura, and Kazuyuki Motohashi

274 Myopic or Farsighted: Bilateral Trade Agreements among Three Symmetric Countries Kenmei Tsubota and Yujiro Kawasaki

275 Measuring Fixed Costs for Firms' Use of a Free Trade Agreement: Threshold Regression Approach Kazunobu Hayakawa

276 Application of Factor Decomposition Techniques to Vertical Specialisation Measurements Bo Meng, Norihiko Yamano, and Colin Webb

277 Skill Distribution and Comparative Advantage: A Comparison of China and India Yoko Asuyama

278 Skill Sorting, Inter-Industry Skill Wage Premium, and Production Chains: Evidence from India 1999-2000 Yoko Asuyama

279 Ex ante Bargaining and Ex post Enforcement in Trade Credit Supply: Theory and Evidence from China Noriyuki Yanagawa and Mariko Watanabe

280 The Role of Preferential Trade Agreements (PTAs) in Facilitating Global Production Networks Kazunobu Hayakawa and Nobuaki Yamashita

281 How Does Country Risk Matter for Foreign Direct Investment?

Kazunobu Hayakawa, Fukunari Kimura, and Hyun-Hoon Lee

282 Does Quality Matter in the Iron and Scrap Trade? Etsuyo Michida, Cemal Atici, and Michikazu Kojima

283 A Model of Economic Growth with Saturating Demand Kozo Kunimune

284 Preliminary Discussions on the Urbanization of Rural Areas in Modern Iran Hitoshi Suzuki

285 Innovation Networks among China, Japan, and Korea: Evidence from Japanese Patent Data Ikuo Kuroiwa, Kaoru Nabeshima, and Kiyoyasu Tanaka

286 Neither Exit nor Voice: Loyalty as a Survival

Strategy for the Uzbeks in Kazakhstan Natsuko Oka

287 Strategic Trade Policy and Non-Linear Subsidy: In the Case of Price Competition Hisao Yoshino

288 Determinants of Political Tolerance: A Literature Review Yasushi Hazama

289 Is the Anti-Trafficking Framework Really for the 'Victims'? Miwa Yamada

290 Domestic, Vertical, and Horizontal Multinationals: A General Equilibrium Approach Using the "Knowledge Capital Model" Kazuhiko Oyamada and Yoko Uchida

291 Negotiating Social Assistance: The Case of the Urban Poor in Turkey Kaoru Murakami

292 Market Discipline by Depositors: Impact of Deposit Insurance on the Indonesian Banking Sector Miki Hamada

293 Economic Restructuring and Regional Distribution of Enterprises in Vietnam Futaba Ishizuka

294 Seasonal Migration and Micro-credit in the Lean Period: Evidence from Northwest Bangladesh Abu S. Shonchoy

< Co-publication with Commercial Publishers >

Industrialization in Late-Developing ASEAN Countries Edited by Naoko Amakawa NUS Press

Input Trade and Production Networks in East Asia Edited by Daisuke Hiratsuka and Yoko Uchida Edward Elgar

Growth and transformation of Korean conglomerates:

Organization reforms and resource allocation structures of big four groups (in Japanese)

By Makoto Abe

Japanese title: Kankoku-zaibatsu no seicho to hen-yo: Yon-dai gurupu no soshiki-kaikaku to shigen-haibunkozo

Iwanami Shoten

What is international cooperation? Development economics working in the field (in Japanese)

Edited by Kazushi Takahashi and Tatsufumi Yamagata Japanese title: Kokusai-kyoryoku-tte nadaro: Genba ni ikiru kaihatsu-keizai-gaku Iwanami Shoten







VI . Commendation for Outstanding Publications

Awards for the Promotion of Studies on Developing Countries

In order to promote studies on developing countries, and to encourage researchers in Japan who are engaged in such studies, the IDE grants awards every year for outstanding publications on economic and other issues concerning developing countries. In 2010, a total of 42 books and papers published during the previous year were recommended for consideration by distinguished scholars in related fields. The selection committee, consisting of the members listed below, examined 4 books and eventually selected the publication shown below. The award was presented to the author by the IDE on July 1, 2010

Award-Winning Publication

Health Care Reform in Thailand (Japanese title: Tai no Iryofukushi Seidokaikaku) By Masato Kawamori (Ochanomizushobo)

Members of the Selection Committee

Hideki Esho (Chairman, Professor, Hosei University) Reiitsu Kojima (Professor Emeritus, Daito Bunka University) Akira Suehiro (Professor, University of Tokyo) Toshihisa Toyoda (Professor, Hiroshima Shudo University) Noriyuki Wakisaka (Editorial Writer, Asahi Shimbun) Takashi Shiraishi (President of the Institute of Developing Economies, JETRO)



WI . IDE Library

The IDE Library, Japan's largest library, specializing in the developing regions, collects basic and academic social science literature on the developing countries, as well as the latest related information and statistical materials. The Library makes these materials widely available to the general public, and in particular to researchers, students, and people involved in business who have an interest in the developing regions.

1. Library Collection

Since the founding of the Institute, the Library has placed emphases on the collection of (1) publications of governments and public organizations in the developing countries, (2) journals and newspapers, (3) research reports from universities and research institutes overseas, and (4) statistical materials. In particular, through the exchange of IDE's publications with those of major overseas research institutes and government agencies, the Library has made efforts to acquire publications that are difficult to obtain through commercial channels. As of the end of FY2010, the Library exchanged publications with 1,078 institutions (Table 1).

Region	International Institution	Government	Library	Research Institute	University	Bank	Corporation	Academic/General Organization, etc.	Total
Asia	16	218	13	93	148	36	1	54	579
East Asia	0	48	6	26	39	8	0	4	131
Southeast Asia	9	101	4	14	27	12	0	7	174
South Asia	0	59	1	29	14	10	1	1	115
Central Asia	0	5	0	0	0	5	0	0	10
Japan	7	5	2	24	68	1	0	42	149
Middle East and North Africa	3	37	2	9	15	29	0	5	100
Latin America	7	53	1	14	25	39	0	15	154
Africa	4	66	0	4	4	40	0	1	119
Oceania	1	10	1	1	11	2	0	1	27
CIS/Eastern Europe	0	5	2	7	2	1	0	0	17
North America	12	2	1	0	20	1	0	0	36
Western Europe	21	0	1	12	9	2	0	1	46
Total	64	391	21	140	234	150	1	77	1078

Table 1. Partner Institutions for International Exchanges

With the cooperation of IDE research fellows sent abroad, the Library collects local publications and materials that cannot be easily found in Japan. In particular, this fiscal year, the Library has collected materials in vernacular languages and statistical materials from 18 countries such as Laos, Venezuela, Iran and others.

As of March 2011, the total number of volumes in the collection has reached 611,721. The breakdown of the collection by languages and materials, as well as by region, is shown in Table 2 and Chart 1.

	New Arrivals in FY2010	End of FY2010
Books:		
Western	6,890	269,328
Japanese	1,140	88,784
Chinese	1,874	45,247
Korean	1,191	22,637
Bound journals	2,217	71,887
Statistical materials	3,078	113,838
Total	16,390	611,721
Newspapers (titles)	0	3,592
Periodicals (titles)	25	470
Maps (sheets)	153	54,111
Microfilms (reels)	98	86,838
Videotapes	0	48,406
Electronic media	3	445

Table 2. New Arrivals and Collection in FY2010



Chart 1. Breakdown of Collection by Region

2. Services to Users

In FY2010, there were 5,235 visitors to the Library. Looking at the visitors by occupation, graduate students and university faculty (44.6%), the persons concerned private companies (13.3%) and others (42.1%), respectively.

In FY2010, to improve services for visitors and remote users, efforts were continuously made in the following areas: (1) the SDI (Selective Dissemination of Information) Service and (2) the digital archives on the internet. With regard to (1), as of the end of March 2011, there are 1,200 registered users. Regarding (2), in FY2010 the Library provided with the bibliographic records extracted from the digital archive "Japan in Modern Asia" for the Center for Japanese Studies, Korea University, who implements the creation project of the database on Japanese materials published from 1868 to 1945 in the Korean Peninsula and Manchuria.

The exhibitions for the special collections of the IDE Library were held in the Library focusing on the following themes.

- "50 years' history of the Award for Promotion of Studies on developing countries" (at the IDE Library, July 2010)
- "Thailand : to understand the present situation" (at the IDE Library, Nov. 2010)
- "Asian biography" (at the Chiba City Library, Jan. and Feb. 2011)
- "The rare books collection of the IDE Library" (at the IDE Library, Feb. and Mar. 2011)

In addition, we published "Special Issue : the Middle East, Africa and Latin America collections", *IDE World Trend*, No. 186 Mar. 2011.

The Library provided reference services to answer inquiries about information, materials, and statistical data on developing countries. In FY2010 there were 1,198 major inquiries and consultations.

3. Other activities

Two librarians of the IDE Library, who presented the joint paper titled "Aiming at improving access to research output through the Institutional Repository" at the 2nd International Conference of Asian Special Libraries(at United Nations University, from Feb. 10-12) won the award for excellence.



Ⅲ. IDE Advanced School (IDEAS)

Chancellor: Takashi Shiraishi (President, IDE-JETRO) *Secretary-General:* Tetsusaburo Hayashi

IDEAS was established as an education wing of the IDE. Since its inauguration in 1990, it has offered postgraduate-level programs in development studies in order to nurture experts who are able to deal with development issues that developing countries face today.

IDEAS offers two types of program in parallel: a one-year program for Japanese students (September-July) and a six-month overseas fellows program for young government officials and researchers from Asian countries (October-March). During the first six months (October-March), many courses are offered jointly to the two groups in English, enabling close interactions between the Japanese students and overseas fellows. During the programs, fellows and students are expected to develop a comprehensive understanding of national development policies and learn how to propose solutions to problems faced by developing countries. The programs emphasize the practical knowledge necessary to undertake development projects.

The main feature of the curriculum is the introduction of structured cluster courses. In particular, the program provides six core courses including two intensive lectures in the first semester, in which both Japanese students and overseas fellows can learn together about the experiences of Japan and Asia in socioeconomic development, as well as contemporary issues of development. Through this curriculum, fellows and students are expected to acquire a higher capacity to become experts in economic and social development in developing countries.

Most of the Japanese students who successfully complete the program proceed to a graduate program in development studies at an appropriate university abroad.

Term	Japanese Students	Term	Overseas Fellows
1 (1990/10~1991/9)	13		
2 (1991/10~1992/9)	12	1 (1991/10~1992/3)	8
3 (1992/10~1993/9)	11	2 (1992/10~1993/3)	11
4 (1993/10~1994/9)	11	3 (1993/10~1994/3)	13
5 (1994/10~1995/9)	11	4 (1994/10~1995/3)	15
6 (1995/10~1996/9)	11	5 (1995/10~1996/3)	15
7 (1996/10~1997/9)	11	6 (1996/10~1997/3)	17
8 (1997/10~1998/9)	11	7 (1997/10~1998/3)	15
9 (1998/10~1999/9)	11	8 (1998/10~1999/3)	15
10 (1999/10~2000/9)	11	9 (1999/10~2000/3)	15
11 (2000/9~2001/7)	11	10 (2000/9~2001/3)	13
12 (2001/9~2002/7)	9	11 (2001/9~2002/3)	15
13 (2002/9~2003/7)	10	12 (2002/9~2003/3)	15
14 (2003/9~2004/7)	11	13 (2003/9~2004/3)	15
15 (2004/9~2005/7)	12	14 (2004/9~2005/3)	16
16 (2005/9~2006/7)	10	15 (2005/9~2006/3)	15
17 (2006/9~2007/7)	11	16 (2006/9~2007/3)	14
18 (2007/9~2008/7)	11	17 (2007/9~2008/3)	21
19 (2008/9~2009/7)	9	18 (2008/9~2009/3)	15
20 (2009/9~2010/7)	13	19 (2009/9~2010/3)	17
21(2010/9~2011/7)	14	20 (2010/9~2011/3)	14
Total	234		294

Table 1 Number of Japanese Students and Overseas Fellows (1990-2011)

Training Program for Overseas Fellows

(October 2010-March 2011)

The training program for overseas fellows was initiated in 1991. The objective is to increase the absorption capacity of foreign aid in developing countries. The program is designed for young government officials who are in charge of socio-economic development policy planning and implementation in governmental organizations in the developing countries. The program provides opportunities to become familiar with the aid administration policies of Japan and other developed countries as well as to study economic development in Japan and other Asian countries. During the current academic year, we invited 14 government officials and researchers from 12 Asian countries.

Financially Supported Fellows from ERIA

Recently, in order to promote cooperation with other related organizations in human resource development, IDEAS started receiving overseas fellows that are financially supported by such organizations as ERIA (Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia). In 2010, out of 14 overseas fellows, 4 fellows were supported by ERIA.

Training Program for Japanese Students

(September 2010-July 2011)

In the 21st academic year of this program, we trained 14 Japanese students selected from among 32 applicants.



Intensive Lecture by Dr. Jeremy Seekings (Professor, Departments of Political Studies and Sociology, University of Cape Town; Director, Social Surveys Unit in the Centre for Social Science Research, University of Cape Town)

IDEAS Program Curriculum

(for FY2010)

Subject	Lecturer	Position				
➤ Joint Lectures - Japanese Students and Overseas Fellows						
International Trade, Investment and Finance						
-Theory of International Trade and Investment, and the Asia Pacific Economy	Hikari Ishido	Associate Prof., Chiba University				
-Infrastructure Development and Finance	Masahisa Koyama	Prof., Ritsumeikan University				
-Political Economy of Asian Regionalisms	Takashi Terada	Prof., Waseda University				
-International Macroeconomics	Kozo Kunimune	Director, International Economic Studies Group, Development Stud- ies Center, IDE				
Development Experience of Japan						
-Japanese Agricultural Development	Akimi Fujimoto	Prof., Tokyo University of Agriculture				
-Industrial Policy and Policies for SMEs in Japan	Itsutomo Mitsui	Prof., Yokohama National University				
-Economy and Politics in Postwar Japan	Minoru Ouchi	Director, Transparency International Japan				
Contemporary Issues of Development	Contemporary Issues of Development					
-Project Planning and Management	Le Thanh Nghiep Kuriki	Prof., Josai International University				

Table 2. (1) Lectures for the 20th Class of Overseas Fellows (September 2010-March 2011)

oshi Inomata	Director, Microeconomic Analysis Group, Development Studies Center, IDE
zuo Kuroda	Prof., Waseda University
suko Hayase	Adjunct Prof., Meikai University
a Tasaka	Member of Board of Trustees, Asian Rural Institute
saaki Miyamoto	Former Executive Officer, Japan Energy Corporation
oaki Kusui	Former Executive Auditor, Kanematsu Corporation
hikazu Kojima	Director, Environment and Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter- disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
oru Hayashi	Prof., Bunkyo University
hio Ito	Prof., Asian Institute for Intellectual Collaboration, Rikkyo University/ Asian Community Center 21
va Yamada	Researcher, Law and Institution Studies Group, Development Stud- ies Center, IDE
edo Saad Filho	Prof./Head of Department of Devel- opment Studies, The School of Ori- ental and African Studies, University of London
emy Seekings	Prof., Departments of Political Stud- ies and Sociology/ Director of the Social Surveys Unit in the Centre for Social Science Research University of Cape Town
	· · ·
	Executive Senior Research Fellow,
DO BOO TEIK	Area Studies Center, IDE
mal Atici	Visiting Research Fellow, IDE / Associate Prof.Adnan Menderes University, Turkey
ashi Tsuchiya	Director-General, Trade and conomic Cooperation Department, JETRO
ven Levitsky	Prof., Harvard University
aka Tatewaki	Program Advisor, Secretariat of the International Peace Cooperation, Government of Japan
nabu Shimizu	Prof., Teikyo University
suhiko Tsuji	Former General Manager, Sumi- tomo Corporation
suji Nakagane	Prof., Aoyama University
suji Nakagane i Kubo	Prof., Aoyama University Researcher, International Economic Studies Group, Development Stud- ies Center, IDE
	Researcher, International Economic Studies Group, Development Stud-
	Puo Kuroda Puo Kuroda Puo Kuroda Puo Kuroda Puo Hayase Puo Hayase Puo Hayashi Puo Boo Teik Pu

Japanese Industry and Organization					
-Japanese Economic Development: Features and Prob- lems	Jozen Takeuchi	Visiting Prof., Zhejiang University			
-Japanese Style Mangement	Hideaki Miyajima	Prof., Waseda University			
-Economic Theory and Practice of Public Finance	Motohiro Sato	Prof., Hitotsubashi University			
Industrial Development in Developing Countries					
	Yuri Sato	Deputy Director-General, Area Stud- ies Center, IDE			
Firm's Strategy: Production, Marketing and Innovation	Tatsufumi Yamagata	Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE			
	Momoko Kawakami	Deputy Director, Technological Innovation and Economic Growth Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE			
	Mai Fujita	Deputy Director, Southeast Asian Studies Group II, Area Studies Cen- ter, IDE			
	Takahiro Fukunishi	Researcher, African Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE			
International Cooperation of Japan					
-JICA Profile	Hiroyuki Mori	Deputy Director General for Public Policy, Industrial Development and Finance, JICA Tokyo International Center			
Seminar					
-Development Economics	Kazumi Yamamoto	Prof., Aichi University			
Others					
-Japanese Language	Japanese Instruc- tors	ARK Academy			

Table 3. (2) Lectures for the 20th Class of Japanese Students (April-July 2010)

Subject	Lecturer	Position
➤ Lectures only for Japanese Students		
Intensive Lectures		
-Poverty Reduction and Social Development	Graham K. Brown	Senior Lecturer in International Development, Department of Social and Policy Sciences, University of Bath
Development Theories		
-Human Development	Hiroki Nogami	Senior Researcher, Development Studies Center, IDE
-Disability and Development	Soya Mori	Deputy Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
	Michikazu Kojima	Director, Environment and Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter- disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
-Development and Environment (Environment and Trade)	Tadayoshi Terao	Senior Research Fellow, Environment and Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
	Kenji Otsuka	Deputy Director, Environment and Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE

		Researcher, Environment and
	Etsuyo Michida	Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
-Population and Development	Hideyuki Takahashi	Director, Japanese Organization for International Cooperation in Family Planning (JOICFP)
-Program Evaluation Seminar	Seiro Ito	Director, Development Strategies Studies Group, Development Studies Center, IDE
Area Studies		
-East Asia (South Korea)	Satoru Okuda	Senior Researcher, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Taiwan)	Hiroshi Ikegami	Researcher, Technological Innovation and Economic Growth Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
(China)	Mariko Watanabe	Director, East Asian Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
-Southeast Asia CLMV)	Toshihiro Kudo	Director, Southeast Asian Studies Group II, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Vietnam)	Mai Fujita	Deputy Director, Southeast Asian Studies Group II, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Laos)	Souknilanh Keola	Researcher, Development Strategies Studies Group, Development Studies Center, IDE
(Politics)	Takeshi Kawanaka	Senior Researcher, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Malaysia)	Satoru Kumagai	Director, Economic Integration Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
-South Asia (India)	Norio Kondo	Director, South Asian Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Bangladesh)	Tatsufumi Yamagata	Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplicnary Studies Center, IDE
(Pakistan)	Yoshihiro Nakanishi	Researcher, Southeast Asian Studies Group II, Area Studies Center, IDE
-Middle East (Turkey)	Yasushi Hazama	Director, Middle Eastern Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Economy)	Ichiki Tsuchiya	Researcher, Middle Eastern Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
-Latin America (Introduction · Social Pollicy)	Koichi Usami	Director, Latin American Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Economy)	Taeko Hoshino	Deputy Director-General, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Education)	Akio Yonemura	Senior Research Fellow, Latin American Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
-Africa	Akira Sato	Deputy Director, African Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
Seminar		
-Social Development	Shozo Sakata	Senior Researcher, Area Studies Center, IDE
	Eiichi Yoshida	Researcher, African Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
	Kumiko Makino	Researcher, African Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE
	Hiroshi Sato	Chief Senior Economist, Overseas Research Department, JETRO

-Economic Development	Tatsufumi Yamagata	Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplicnary Studies Center, IDE
	Hiroki Nogami	Senior Researcher, Development Studies Center, IDE
	Mai Fujita	Deputy Director, Southeast Asian Studies Group II, Area Studies Cen- ter, IDE
Special Lecture		
-How to deal with China and the Chinese	Shigeru Endo	Chief Executive Officer, Hutchison Whampoa Limited, Japan
-Conflict and Peace Building	Shinichi Takeuchi	Senior Research Fellow, JICA Re- search Institute
-Poverty and Inequality Measures	Tatsufumi Yamagata	Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplicnary Studies Center, IDE
Others		
-PCM Training	Takaharu Ikeda, Tomoe Taira	IC Net Limited
English		
-English Academic Writing	Paul Consalvi	English Instructor, International Education Center, Nichibei Kaiwa Gakuin

Table 4.

(3) Lectures for the 21st Class of Japanese Students (September 2010-February 2011)

Subject	Lecturer	Position	
➢ Joint Lectures - Japanese Students and Overseas Fellow	vs		
International Trade, Investment and Finance	International Trade, Investment and Finance		
-Theory of International Trade and Investment, and the Asia Pacific Economy	Hikari Ishido	Associate Prof., Chiba University	
-Infrastructure Development and Finance	Masahisa Koyama	Prof., Ritsumeikan University.	
-Political Economy of Asian Regionalisms	Takashi Terada	Prof., Waseda University	
-International Macroeconomics	Kozo Kunimune	Director, International Economic Studies Group, Development Studies Center, IDE	
Development Experience of Japan			
-Japanese Agricultural Development	Akimi Fujimoto	Prof., Tokyo University of Agriculture	
-Industrial Policy and Policies for SMEs in Japan	Itsutomo Mitsui	Prof., Yokohama National University	
-Economy and Politics in Postwar Japan	Minoru Ouchi	Director, Transparency International Japan	
Contemporary Issues of Development			
-Project Planning and Management	Le Thanh Nghiep Kuriki	Prof., Josai International University	
-Introduction to Input-Output Analyses	Satoshi Inomata	Director, Microeconomic Analysis Group, Development Studies Center, IDE	
-Development and Education	Kazuo Kuroda	Prof., Waseda University	
-Population and Development in Asia	Yasuko Hayase	Adjunct Prof., Meikai University	
-Human Environment at Risk and the Food Security	Koa Tasaka	"Member of Board of Trustees, Asian Rural Institute	
-Energy Balance and the Renewable Resources	Masaaki Miyamoto	Former Executive Officer, Japan Energy Corporation	
-Current Situation over Natural Resources -Growing of BRICs	Hiroaki Kusui	Former Executive Auditor, Kanemat- su Corporation	

-Environmental Policy in Japan	Michikazu Kojima	Director, Environment and Natural Resource Studies Group, Inter- disciplinary Studies Center, IDE
International Cooperation		
-Recent Trend of Ideas and Modalities of Development Cooperation	Kaoru Hayashi	Prof., Bunkyo University
-International Development Cooperation by Japanese NGOs and NGOs in Asian Countries	Michio Ito	Prof., Asian Institute for Intellectual Collaboration, Rikkyo University/ Asian Community Center 21
-Development and Law, Governance	Miwa Yamada	Researcher, Law and Institution Studies Group, Development Studies Center, IDE
Intensive Lectures		
-Finance, Development and Economic Crises	Alfredo Saad Filho	Prof./ Head of Department of De- velopment Studies, The School of Oriental and African Studies, Univer- sity of London
-Comparative Politics of Welfare Policy	Jeremy Seekings	Prof., The Departments of Political Studies and Sociology/ Director, The Social Surveys Unit in the Centre for Social Science Research, University of Cape Town
Special Lecture		
-Social Issues and Political Conflicts in Development		Executive Senior Research Fellow,
-Research Method and Writing	Khoo Boo Teik	Area Studies Center, IDE
-Current Issues in Environment and Development	Cemal Acti	Visiting Research Fellow, IDE / Associate Prof. Adnan Menderes University, Turkey
-Outline of 2010 JTERO Global Trade and Investment Report	Dai Higashino	Director, Intenational Economic Research Division, JETRO
-The Rise of the Left in Latin America	Steven Levitsky	Prof., of Government, Harvard University
-Understanding Moslems and Islamic Culture	Ali Ferdowsi	Prof., and Chair, Department of History and Political Science, Notre Dame de Namur University
➤ Lectures for Japanese Students		
Development Theories		
-Social Development (Introduction)		
(Participatory Development)	Shozo Sakata	Senior Researcher, Area Studies Center, IDE
(Social Capital)		
(Fair Trade)		Senior Research Fellow sent abroad.
(BOP)	Hiroshi Sato	IDE (Brighton)
(Civil-Military Link for Humanitarian Assistance)	Yutaka Tatewaki	Program Advisor, Secretariat of the International Peace Cooperation, Government of Japan
(Rural Development and People's Organization)	Masafumi Ikeno	Researcher, KRI International Corporation
(AIDS)	Kumiko Makino	Researcher, African Studies Group,
(Social Movement)		Area Studies Center, IDE
(Microfinance)	Hidemi Yoshida	Associate Prof., Hosei University Graduate School
(Role of Facilitators in Social Development)	Miho Ota	Assistant Prof., Tokyo University
(Education Development and Role of the World Bank)	Takako Yuki	JICA Research Institute
(Social Entrepreneurship and Poverty Reduction)	Hiroyuki Tsuzaki	Director, ARUN LLC
(One Village One Product Movement as a Local Development Approach)	Eiichi Yoshida	Researcher, African Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE

(Conflict)	Katsuya Mochizuki	Director-General, Research Promo- tion Department, IDE	
(Housing Problem)	Ryohei Konta	Researcher, Latin American Studies Group, Area Studies Center, IDE	
-Development Economics	Tomohiro Machikita	Researcher, Economic Integration Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE	
Economics and Mathematics for Social Science			
-Micro Economics	Tatsufumi Yamagata	Director, Poverty Alleviation and Social Development Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE	
-Macro Economics	Hiroki Nogami	Senior Researcher, Development Studies Center, IDE	
-Mathematics for Economics	Hiroshi Kuwamori	Deputy Director, Microeconomic Analysis Group, Development Studies Center, IDE	
	Kiyoyasu Tanaka	Researcher, Economic Integration Studies Group, Inter-disciplinary Studies Center, IDE	
-Mathematical Statistics	Jinichi Uemura	Director, Macroeconomic Analysis Group, Development Studies Center, IDE	
Area Studies			
-Central Asia: Challenges for Socio-economic Transfor- mation	Manabu Shimizu	Prof., Teikyo University	
Seminar			
-Seminar	Yamagata, Nogami, Sakata Fujita, Yo- shida, Makino	Researchers, IDE	
English			
-English Academic Writing	Paul Consalvi	English Instructor, International Education Center, Nichibei Kaiwa Gakuin	
-TOEFL (Elective)	Hidenori Suzuki	English Instructor, International Education Center, Nichibei Kaiwa Gakuin	

IX . Supporting Activities for ERIA

JETRO continues to conduct activities supporting the Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia (ERIA).

1. Objective of Activities

The objective of these activities is to contribute to policy efforts to promote both comprehensive development of the Asian economy and growth of the Japanese economy through collaboration with relevant organizations such as the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI), by supporting the Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia (ERIA), an international organization established in June 2008, by the 16 East Asia Summit member countries to conduct policy research and formulate policy recommendations towards greater East Asia.

2. Activities in FY 2010

In close linkage with 15 regional research institutes and in consultation with METI, JETRO has been working on a variety of activities including research, capacity building, dissemination of research findings, with the Institute of Developing Economies serving as secretariat for the Research Institute Network (RIN) and the JETRO Bangkok (Research Section) as a local administrative office for such activities and in cooperation with JETRO's Overseas Research Department and overseas offices.

1) Research Projects

Under two of ERIA's three research pillars, "Narrowing the Development Gaps" and "Sustainable Development," JETRO, under contract with ERIA, conducted two policy research projects with three research agendas focusing on East Asian economic integration along with seven other independent research projects in Bangkok, etc. to support ERIA's research activities related to Japan's national interests.

The research results were presented to regional ministers by ERIA on a number of occasions, including 5th East Asia Summit and 17th ASEAN Summit in Hanoi, Vietnam in October, 2010, and ASEAN Transport Ministers Meeting in Brunei in November 2010.

<ERIA policy research projects sponsored by ERIA>

(1) Supporting-study Projects for ERIA Research Project on "The Comprehensive Asia Development Plan Phase 2 (CADP2)"

(1)-1 "Geographical Simulation Analysis for Logistics Enhancement in ASEAN, China and India"

(1)-2 "Network Management: How to Enhance Innovation Capability with Internal and External Resources"

(2) "3R Policies in Southeast and East Asia"

<Independent research projects related to the national interest of Japan>

(1) Research on the Possibility of Agriculture & Food Processing Industry in GMS

(2) Distribution network between India and ASEAN

(3) Retail financial markets in Asian countries

(4) "Applying for ASEAN FTAs Certificates of Origin"

(5) The Rise of China's Economy and The Relation to ASEAN Countries

(6) A Study on the Development of Intra-regional Intermediate Goods Trade in ASEAN and the Role of China, Japan and Korea: With Special Focus on the Mekong River Basin Countries(MRBCs)

(7) A Study on Economic Corridors and Industrial Estates, Ports, Metropolitans and Alternative Roads in Mekong Region

2) Capacity Building

A number of programs were carried out aimed at improving the policy-research and policy-proposing capacity of local policy makers and researchers, in particular the CLMV countries (Cambodia, Laos, Myanmar and Vietnam). IDE-JETRO was contracted to conduct a "Long Term Program for 6-month in Japan," which combined the existent IDE Advanced School Program for Overseas and an ERIA program focusing on ERIA Research Projects and trade & investment (esp. FTA). The JETRO Bangkok (Research Section) assisted ERIA in conducting a program titled "Dispatch of Lecturers in CLMV countries." A total of 239 individuals from the CLMV countries participated in these two programs.

3) Seminar / Symposium

To disseminate results of studies conducted by JETRO Bangkok (Research Section) to support ERIA activities, seminars on the current status of East Asia were held for Japanese Companies etc. three times in Bangkok, Thailand.(Total of participants of those seminars:254)

JETRO and ERIA did not hold Joint International Symposiums in FY2010, however JETRO assisted ERIA to organize The ERIA Regional Network Forum entitled " Connecting the Future- East Asian Regional Initiatives", which was jointly held by the ERIA, Nara Prefecture, and the Kansai Economic Federation in July 2010 in Nara Prefecture, Japan. The representatives from 16 Research Institute Network (RIN) members attended this Forum and active discussions were made.

In addition, JETRO backed ERIA up on occasion in sending staffs to smoothly organize its symposiums, seminars, expert meetings and so on.

4) Secretariat for the Research Institutes Network

The Research Institutes Network (RIN) was formed by research institutes from 16 countries with the objective of supporting ERIA activities by providing research outcomes and information to ERIA as well as advising ERIA's research agenda and policy recommendations. JETRO has played a leading role in organizing RIN meetings, with IDE-JETRO acting as the Japanese representative to RIN and the JETRO Bangkok (Research Section) serving as RIN's administrative office. Meetings were held twice in Bangkok on September 25, 2010 and January 8, 2011.

5) Others

(1)MoU with ERIA

JETRO has continued to support ERIA since its establishment in June 2008. On February 17, 2011, JETRO signed a memorandum of understanding (MoU) with ERIA to strengthen the relation between the two organizations.

(2) ERIA-IDE-UNIDO Joint Conference

On March 7-8, 2011, IDE-JETRO, ERIA and UNIDO jointly held a conference in Jakarta titled, "Green Economy, Sustainable Innovation, and Structural Change: Challenges and Opportunities" as a preparation meeting of the coming their trilateral joint research project staring from FY2011.

(3)Assistance for Development of ERIA Library In cooperation with IDE Library, JETRO gave advice and suggestions to ERIA for development of its library.



2. Budget for fiscal year 2010

	(unit: ten thousand yen)
《Income》	3,641,045
Government grant	3,366,153
other operating income	274,892
// N	
《Expentiture》	3,641,045
Research	375,198
Publications, seminars and lectures	302,400
Expenses for supporting activities towards the establishment of ER	IA 101,218
Personel costs and related expenses	2,810,208
Research of contract basis	52,021

Appendix

Research Projects of the 20101 fiscal year

How Chinese Industries Have Developed: Crosssectional Analysis of the Development Process. WATANABE Mariko

Social Transformation in Post-Transition South Africa MAKINO Kumiko

The Linkage between Agriculture and Industry in India UCHIKAWA Shuji

Regional and Class Disparities in India: Future Direction for the Poorest State of Bihar TSUJITA Yuko

Islam and political dissent: Studies and Comparisons from Asia and the Middle East KHOO Boo Teik

East Asian Integration and its Theoretical Basis KUROIWA Ikuo

Regional Financial Cooperation in Asia Revisited: Progress and Issues KASHIWABARA Chie

Law and Migration Policies in East Asia YAMADA Miwa

Coexistence with the Aging Society in Developing Economies

OIZUMI Keiichiro (Senior Economist, Center for Pacific Business Studies, Economics Department, Japan Research Institute, Limited)

Internally Valid Microeconometric Development Analysis ITO Seiro

The Role of Judges and Judicialization of Asia IMAIZUMI Shinya **Economic Integration and Recycling in Asia** KOJIMA Michikazu

Reform of Local Governance for Environmental Conservation and Restoration in Rivers and Lake Basins, China OTSUKA Kenji

International Comparison of Environmental Policy Development from a Historical Viewpoint TERAO Tadayoshi

The Impact of Micro-Credit Repayment Rules on Seasonal Migration and Loan Repayment during the Agricultural Lean Season-A Randomised Experiment in Bangladesh SHONCHOY Abu

Trade and Environment" Issues from the Perspective of Developing Countries YANAI Akiko

Analysis of Current Affairs in Asia OKUDA Satoru

Compilation and Use of the 2005 International Input-Output Table III TAMAMURA Chiharu

The Frontier of International Input-Output Analyses INOMATA Satoshi

Compilation and Application of Trade Indices VI NODA Yosuke

Econometric Modeling on Asia for Long-term Evaluation (EMALE) NOGAMI Hiroki

Compilation and Analysis of Geo-Economic Datasets for East Asia KUMAGAI Satoru The Rise of Multinational Corporations from Middle East TSUCHIYA Ichiki

Comparative Studies on Political Institutions in Southeast Asia NAKAMURA Masashi

The Change in Social Contract in Egypt INO Takeji (Professor, Wayo Women's University)

Political Participation by "the Excluded" in Latin America UETANI Naokatsu

Social Welfare and Governmentality in Emerging Countries MURAKAMI Kaoru

Dealing with Differences: The Politics of Tolerance in Developing Countries HAZAMA Yasushi

Political, Economic, and Social Issues in Latin America USAMI Koichi

Basic Income in the Emerging Countries: Theories and Discussions USAMI Koichi

Rural Development in Vietnam: Transformation of the Rural Economy under Rapid Economic Growth SAKATA Shozo

Dynamics of the Garment Industry in Low-income Countries following the MFA Phase-out FUKUNISHI Takahiro

Business Management and Information Gathering of Textile and Apparel Enterprises in Middle Eastern Countries IWASAKI Yoko

Costa Rica: Latin America's Small Dragon, or the Region's Unique Social Democracy? YAMAOKA Kanako **Comparative Study on the Organizational Capabilities of Asian Rural Societies** SHIGETOMI Shinichi

Conflict and Reconciliation in Africa and the Middle East SATO Akira

Economic Policies and Economic Structures of Transition Economies in Southeast Asia: A Comparative Study of Myanmar and Vietnam KUBO Koji

Global Recession and Economic Policies in Developing Countries KUNIMUNE Kozo

Employment of Persons with Disabilities in Developing Countries KOBAYASHI Masayuki

Theory of International Input-Output Analysis TAMAMURA Chiharu

Technology Choice and Economic Development GEMMA Masahiko (Professor, Waseda University School of Social Sciences)

Elimination of Child Labor in a Multi-Actor Approach YAMAGATA Tatsufumi

Simulation Analysis of Multinational Activity in the Globalizing World TANAKA Kiyoyasu

Disabilities and poverty reduction in developing countries YAMAGATA Tatsufumi

Latecomer's Catch-up Revisited SATO Yukihito

Marine Transport and Harbor in Asia Region IKEGAMI Hiroshi